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RESPONSIBILITY FOR THIS REPORT

The Board of directors (Board) of Union Atlantic Minerals 

acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the integrity of the 

Integrated Report (report). The Board has accordingly applied its 

mind to the report and, in their opinion, the report addresses all 

material issues and fairly presents the performance of the Group 

and Company.

The Board approved this report on 4 July 2019.

FEEDBACK

Any questions or comments on the report may be forwarded to the 

company secretary at melinda@fusioncorp.co.za

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised shares: 5,000,000,000

Issued shares:  1,288,086,443

Classes of shares: 1

Unissued authorised shares: 3,711,913,557

Ordinary shares of no par value which entitle the holder to one vote 

per share held. 

NOTES

• Throughout the report $ or dollar refers to US dollar

• Throughout the report R or rand refers to South African rand

• All production volumes are metric tonnes (t)

•  Rounding off of figures may result in computational 

discrepancies

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report may contain unaudited forward-looking statements based on information currently available to the Company.

These statements are based on assumptions and depend on circumstances that may occur in the future and are subject to change without notice. 
Forward-looking statements, therefore, are provided as a general guide only with no assurance provided that actual outcomes will not differ materially 
from these forward-looking statements.

This Integrated Report provides information relating to the intent, strategy and business of  
the 2018 financial year (1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018). It also sets out the challenges 
and opportunities ahead.
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CORPORATE PROFILE

ABOUT UNION ATLANTIC MINERALS LIMITED

The Company, a South African mineral exploration, mining 
development and investment holding company, is listed 
on the Johannesburg Securities Exchange Limited (JSE). 

Union Atlantic Minerals, previously known as Miranda Minerals 
Holdings Limited, is in the final stage of a restructuring process, 
whereby management has resolved to focus on: 

Brownfields exploration for base  
and technology metals

Mine development

Mining of ores

Production of polymetallic concentrates

The management of the Company has been mandated to consider 

other investment opportunities, such as precious metals and stones 

projects should these have the potential to deliver the minimum 

returns targeted by management.

STRATEGIC APPROACH

The Company’s intentions are to:

•  Become a mid-tier, Africa-focused explorer, developer and 

producer of polymetallic concentrates ultimately focused on the 

mining and beneficiation of base metal and technology metal ores

•  Target base and specialist technology metals projects, and in 

exceptional cases, precious metals and stones projects with the 

potential of delivering:

 • minimum project payback time of three years

 • real internal rate of return of 30% 

 •  polymetallic product which will ameliorate the price cyclicality 

inherent in the metals markets and, in so doing, manage 

unexpected cyclical price risks associated with individual product 

demand, inventory levels and new supply coming on stream

•  Raise capital in order to prioritise further brownfields exploration 

of the Rozynenbosch base metals asset and expanding to other 

jurisdictions in due course

•  Grow the Company by focussing on new areas of operation, by 

making application for new rights or by acquisition of new assets

•  Lift the trade suspension of the Company’s shares and continue 

trading as Union Atlantic Minerals Limited on the JSE

Become mid-
tier explorer, 

developer, 
producer

Dispose of  
non-core assets

Grow the 
Company

Target base 
and specialist 

technology metals 
projects

Lift trade 
suspension of 

Company shares 
on JSE

Raise capital
Union Atlantic

MINERALS
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CHAIRMAN AND CEO REVIEW

Following the appointment of Theo Botoulas as Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) in February 2017 and the 
subsequent review of assets, the Company has been actively 

restructured. As CEO, Mr Botoulas was specifically mandated 
to restructure and refocus the Company and to develop and 
implement a turnaround strategy so as to ensure its long-term 
sustainability in the minerals sector. As of publication of this 
Integrated Report, the Company has exited its investments in 
coal as planned.

In terms of its new strategy, the Company will focus on base 

and specialist metals which have both industrial uses in the 

normal course of use, as well as metals used in the burgeoning 

technology sector which are required for electronic devices and 

new technology vehicles. Examples of these metals include copper, 

zinc, lead and tin as well as metals such as niobium, tantalum and 

lithium. The Company management may also consider investing 

on a project-by-project basis, in the diamond and precious metals 

sectors, where management and the Company networks have 

enormous experience and can add significant value.

In line with the revised strategy, business activities will initially 

involve brownfields exploration, followed 

in time by the development of mines, 

ore extraction and the production of 

polymetallic concentrates from specific 

orebodies for sale to end-users and refiners. 

Examples would be the lead, zinc and silver 

concentrates which could be produced from 

the Rozynenbosch Project should it prove to 

be commercially viable. 

EVENTS TO THE PRESENT 

The publication of the Integrated Report for 2017 (which included 

the outstanding financial audits for the 2014, 2015, 2016 and 

2017 financial years) was the culmination of work done by 

executive management to resolve several outstanding issues 

which had affected the Company for the years since the voluntary 

suspension of the share in September 2014. 

The systematic presentation of this information in proper format 

has clarified for the executive management the remaining issues 

which require to be resolved to complete the restructuring process. 

It is evident that Union Atlantic Minerals finds itself in a stable 

position which will enable it to move forward with the stated 

regeneration strategy of conducting brownfields exploration for 

base and technology metals, mine development, mining of ores 

and production of polymetallic concentrates. Acquisition of projects 

and application for new prospecting rights will also be actively 

undertaken.

The resolution of the remaining issues identified by executive 

management is well underway. A project to systematically sift 

through, evaluate and sort both the hardcopy as well as electronic 

data files is currently being undertaken. New information has been 

recovered which has allowed management to refine, optimise and 

restructure the turnaround plan, and as a consequence, to better 

plan the resources required to bring the restructuring exercise to a 

successful conclusion. 

This restructuring exercise, launched in February 2017, is now in its 

final stages. Management has targeted 2019 to apply to the JSE to 

re-instate the listing of Union Atlantic Minerals’ shares on the JSE 

and to re-finance the Company.

During the period under review, management has specifically dealt 

with the following:

• Milnex 189 (Pty) Limited (Milnex), a mineral rights consultancy, is 

together with management reviewing the status of the mineral 

rights held in the remaining subsidiary companies with a view to 

optimising, focusing and renewing the mineral rights portfolio of 

the Company, while rebuilding the Company database and files. 

This review includes an exercise to recover financial guarantees 

provided to the Department of Mineral Resources (DMR) in the 

past on prospecting rights which have either lapsed, been sold 

or expired. The guarantee for Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery (Pty) 

Limited (Sesikhona) has been replaced at Guardrisk

•   An exercise to evaluate the status of 51 rights under appeal at 

the DMR (rights acquired from Goldfields 

in 1999), has been initiated at Japie van 

Zyl Attorneys, which rights will be pursued 

should the minerals fit the strategy and is 

commercially attractive to include these in 

the portfolio of the Company

•   Management has noted the positive 

statements made by the Honourable 

Minister of Minerals Resources of South

  Africa, Gwede Mantashe, regarding 

amendments to the Mining Charter and regarding the minerals 

sector in general. As a consequence, applications for additional 

prospecting rights have been made for lead, copper, zinc and 

silver in the Northern Cape province. The new applications have 

been made in newly established subsidiary company, Union 

Atlantic Commodities (Pty) Limited

• Development of a strategy to ensure the future sustainability 

of the Company as a ‘junior’ in the African minerals sector, 

including the creation of subsidiaries in African jurisdictions to 

enable this strategy, is being actively pursued, with projects in 

several African jurisdictions being considered

• Minxcon has been mandated to evaluate additional data 

for possible inclusion into an updated geological model 

and SAMREC-compliant Competent Person’s Report for 

Rozynenbosch

• Minxcon has been mandated to assist management in 

formulating a development plan, and compiling the associated 

budgets, for additional field work for the Rozynenbosch Project 

based on the new data recovered

“BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 
WILL INVOLVE BROWNFIELDS 

EXPLORATION FOLLOWED 
BY THE DEVELOPMENT 

OF MINES”
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• The continued compilation by management of internal 

budgets for the regeneration of the Company, and evaluation 

of additional exploration properties in the Northern Cape 

province, whether by farm-in, acquisition, or new mineral rights 

application. As stated previously, applications for additional 

prospecting rights have been made for lead, copper, zinc and 

silver in the Northern Cape province. The new applications have 

been made in newly established subsidiary companies

• The sale of the Company’s 73% equity stake in Sesikhona to 

Osho Resources SA (Pty) Limited (Osho) for R7.5 million was 

concluded

• The agreement to dispose of the 100% interest in Miranda Coal 

on a ‘voetstoots’ basis to Siafa Resources (Pty) Limited (Siafa) for 

a cash consideration of R8 million was concluded

OPERATING CONTEXT AND RATIONALE 
FOR STRATEGY

The current global economic outlook is coloured by the weaker 

US dollar over the past 24 months, market volatility, increased 

inflationary expectations, concerns about trade wars and greater 

geopolitical uncertainty. Much of this bodes well for commodities. 

The pace of slowing infrastructure investment in China appears to 

have stabilised, metal demand in China is exceeding expectations, 

the price trend on metal prices is upward and metals inventories are 

at multi-year lows.

The global financial crisis of 2008 led to a paradigm shift in the 

minerals industry and the commodities produced by it. 

Concerns about the future supply of oil and hydrocarbons, the 

impact of these on the environment (more commonly known 

as anthropogenic climate change), the rise of resource-hungry 

economies in India and China, the collapse and restructuring of the 

United States automobile industry and the rise of new technologies 

in computers and mobile phones has led to a demand and global 

competition for rare and technology metals. This competition will 

have an impact on future geopolitical events and both global and 

regional balances of power. At the start of the current decade, 

commitment to the production and development of the electric 

car by major automobile manufacturers has seen a global race to 

secure access to the world’s supply of lithium. 

The products at the forefront of modern technological 

development, which include batteries, computers and smartphones, 

require an increasing number of metals present in the suite of 

periodic table of elements to be mined, refined and traded. 

To meet the advances in technology, these metals are being 

combined by engineers and scientists in increasingly complicated 

amalgamations. The invention of automobile created the oil and 

petrochemical industry and made oil strategically essential to the 

success of any nation. In the same manner, many of the rare metals 

and technology required for production of batteries, computers 

and smartphones will become transformative and strategically 

Tin

Lithium

Cobalt

Silver

Nickel

Gold

Tungsten

Vanadium

Graphite

Niobium

Zinc

PGMs (Pt, Pd)

Salt

AV/EV

METALS MOST IMPACTED BY NEW TECHNOLOGY

Robotics Renewables

Electrical contact materials: 
Tin, silver, gold

Battery materials:
Lithium, cobalt, nickel
(tin, silver, vanadium, graphite, zinc)
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Energy storage
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CHAIRMAN AND CEO REVIEW 
CONTINUED

essential to the industries and nations that manufacture these 

items. The successful introduction of these items into the world has 

created new industries (mobile apps, tablets and a plethora of new 

electronic devices), making the power of these new technologies 

essential for everyday use, and as a consequence, the rare metals 

required to manufacture them even more indispensable.

Rare metals enable scientists and engineers to produce electronic 

products that are increasingly smaller, faster and more powerful. 

Each rare metal has its own functions and characteristics – indium 

is malleable, niobium is ductile, cadmium is toxic, thorium is 

radioactive, cobalt is magnetic and gallium melts easily. Antimony is 

fire resistant, dysprosium and neodymium are used to manufacture 

powerful magnets, and terbium is used to increase the light intensity 

on television screens. On a smartphone, the indium in the screen 

serves as the conductor, or link, between a finger and the screen. 

Europium and terbium provide the intense red and green colours on 

the screen, and cerium assists in polishing the glass on the screen to 

Al Aluminium
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Li
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Al
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Silver

Copper

Au

Ag

Cu

TungstenW
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Aerospace-grade 
aluminium with an 
anodised outside layer 
provides a smartphone 
with a light but resilient 
casing. This layer can be 
just five micrometers 
thick, which is thinner 
than paint.

A smartphone’s battery comprises of 
lithium, aluminium and cobalt metal oxide 
(LiCoC02) cathode, which is 60% cobalt, a 
graphite anode and aluminium casing.

Gold, silver, copper and 
tungsten are used for 
electrical connections 
within the phone. The 
metal depends on the 
need, with silver for 
example, being the most 
conductive, while gold 
never tarnishes.

The screen of a smart-
phone is much more 
complex than it may seem 
at first. The screen itself is 
made of aluminosilicate 
glass which is loaded with 
ions of potassium for 
strength.

To get a lot of sound from a small 
place, high powered neodymium 
magnets are used. They are made 
from neodymium, iron and boron, 
and sometimes also contain smaller 
amounts of other rare earths. The 
same magnets also power the phone’s 
vibration function.

MINERAL ELEMENTS USED IN A STANDARD SMARTPHONE
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the molecular level. Tantalum regulates the power within the phone 

and lithium, as in the case of the electric automobile, stores the 

power which allows the smartphone to be mobile.

Research has shown that junior miners have a vital role to play in 

the development and sustainability of the mining sector. Junior 

or emerging miners undertake initial prospecting and drilling to 

identify economically viable deposits. In the case of Union Atlantic 

Minerals, the Company has the added benefit of management’s 

proven track record and comprehensive network of consultants 

and advisors to progress mineral projects further and to raise the 

requisite capital and construct and develop medium-sized mining 

operations.

As a consequence of negative views on the mining sector, 

exploration budgets in South Africa have been declining since 

2012, from a very low base. The universe of junior miners and 

explorers listed on the JSE, a sector on the exchange which was 

in rude health during the 1980s and 1990s has become almost 

completely extinct, decimated by changed minerals legislation 

(which effectively altered the South African minerals industry from 

one driven by capitalism to one driven by a socialist agenda) as well 

as the internationalisation or the collapse of the six major mining 

houses which had for decades been at the heart of the South 

African minerals industry. The absence or demise of these six South 

African industry champions led to the near-collapse of exploration 

efforts in South Africa. Currently, most minerals exploration in the 

country is conducted by large operating companies on their existing 

mining projects, or alternatively in the hydrocarbon industry.

The newly appointed South African President Cyril Ramaphosa 

and the Minister of Mineral Resources have both expressed their 

support and desire for the regeneration of the mining sector, given 

the geological prospectivity of the country and its importance to 

the economy via linkages to the industrial base. These views and 

circumstances have positive implications for the long-term pipeline 

of mining developments and ultimately for production and the 

supply of metals in South Africa, and hence for their prices.

The massively underdeveloped junior sector in South Africa, 

coupled with significant opportunities in the rest of Africa, present 

a significant opportunity for South African-domiciled Union Atlantic 

Minerals to re-enter the industry off a base of sound projects and 

at the early stages of a commodities supercycle and revolution 

in new technologies. As such, there is massive potential for the 

Company to regenerate itself and add value for its shareholders in 

this environment. 

OUTLOOK 

While we expect market and operating conditions in the coming 

year to remain challenging as sentiment and policies change, 

management remain confident that we will be able to deliver on 

our the strategy initiated in February 2017. We look forward to 

unsuspending the Company share (JSE: UAT) during 2019, and 

refinancing the Company in the near future for it to be able to 

meet the new growth strategy.

RATIONALE FOR THE CREATION OF UNION ATLANTIC 
MINERALS LIMITED: THE REGENERATION OF THE 
LISTED JUNIOR MINING SECTOR IN SOUTH AFRICA
Synopsis

• The South African junior mining sector has contracted to a 

fraction of its former size and potential, mostly as a consequence 

of changed minerals rights laws and emigration of its industry 

champions to offshore jurisdictions

• A worldwide revolution in technology has seen a drive to clean 

energy systems, bypassing fossil fuels in the long-run

• South Africa hosts a sophisticated financial system, has 

superb infrastructure and individuals and institutions of 

technical excellence

• South Africa has a detailed database of geological and technical 

information as maintained by the Council for Geoscience

• The re-industrialisation of South Africa will be driven by the 

minerals sector

• South African stakeholders must lead in reconstructing the junior 

minerals industry and shift reliance from offshore investors

• Union Atlantic Minerals has been conceptualised to lead the 

way in the junior South African industry and is South African-

domiciled with a focus in Africa and South Africa

A synopsis of the genesis of the South African 
minerals industry environment in 2018

The Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act (MPRDA), 

which came into effect on 1 May 2004, governs the acquisition, 

use and disposal of mineral rights in South Africa. The MPRDA 

entrenched state power and control over the mineral and petroleum 

resources of the country. The introduction of the MPRDA, as 

developed by the first democratically elected government, was 

intended to address the past exclusionary practices of the apartheid 

government against black South African citizens. 
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CHAIRMAN AND CEO REVIEW 
CONTINUED

Prior to the MPRDA, the Minerals Act 50 of 1991 (Minerals Act 

1991) regulated the exercise of mineral rights. The common law 

principles of mineral rights ownership held that the owner of the 

land was the owner of the whole of the land, including the minerals 

contained in the earth beneath the surface. The Minerals Act 1991 

regulated the exercise of minerals in the ground as private property 

(owned minerals) and did not interfere with the commercial or 

extractive rights, the principles of ownership of the owned minerals, 

or the commercial principles of willing buyer, willing seller of these 

minerals in the ground. The owned minerals could be valued as 

per accepted methodologies and protocols and traded freely in 

the markets by both companies and individuals. In the 1980s and 

1990s, the JSE had many listed exploration companies whose sole 

assets were mineral rights – Barnex, Rhoex, Randex and Lydex to 

name a few.

The MPRDA overturned in its entirety the right to ownership of 

the minerals in the ground (the right for these owned minerals 

to be treated as property) and replaced the system of ownership 

with one of administrative law based on conditional state licences 

under which the state, acting under the authority of the Minister of 

Mineral Resources, held the rights to minerals in the ground ‘in safe 

custody’ for the benefit of all South Africans, and was accorded 

what amounted to discretionary powers to 

‘grant, issue, refuse, control, administer and 

manage’ rights to these minerals. 

The policy revolution which swept through 

the South African mining industry, which 

was viewed in some quarters as an 

expropriation of private property without 

compensation, resulted in the extinction 

of all common law minerals property, the 

termination of absolute rights of ownership 

to minerals in the ground, the statutory 

removal of the right of a landowner to control access to his 

property as well as access to the minerals beneath the surface, and 

the replacement of the aforementioned with conditional and time-

constrained state rights to minerals in the ground. The minerals 

could no longer be commercially traded between companies or 

individuals, or developed according to the variabilities of mineral 

commodity cycles and commercial realities in respect of supply or 

demand of a specific commodity, but now required time consuming 

bureaucratic permissions and consents.

The state licencing system dictated that a set resource development 

plans be followed, with any amendments to the set plan (as a 

consequence of cyclical commercial realities or technical challenges) 

requiring copious and detailed documentation to be submitted 

to state bureaucrats for approval. In addition to the MPRDA, the 

Mining Charter which came into effect on 1 May 2004 and which 

detailed the policy of the African National Congress towards the 

mining sector, required the mining industry to implement certain 

policies of the governing party with respect to all commercial 

aspects of the business of mining companies including, but 

not limited to, equity ownership, attributable units of minerals 

production, collective schemes and partnerships and community 

development for the benefit of Historically Disadvantaged South 

Africans (HDSA).

In September 2018, after a massive flight of capital from the mining 

industry since 2004, the South African government released the 

third version of the Mining Charter which attempted to address 

barriers to investment which had arisen over the years, coupled 

with a reform of the personnel and administrative capability of 
the DMR.

In any jurisdiction in the world, investors in an industry in a 

purportedly resource-rich economy which has seen a massive and 

ambitious political, development and policy revolution in a short 

space of time, require legal certainty and a long-term view in 

order to invest the significant amounts of capital required for the 

inherent geological and commodity risk in a project to be properly 

ameliorated. The high risk, capital-intensive projects inherent in 

mining and the long lead-times required to construct a successful 

project from the exploration programmes to a constructed mine 

delivering financial returns in the form of dividends, must be taken 

to account. 

The South African government chose a 

system of state administration of mineral 

rights. Under this model, it is an obligation 

of the state administrative arm to effectively 

and efficiently provide regulatory certainty, 

efficient administration of rights and also 

those rights ancillary to mining (such as 

rights to the use of water), in order for the 

mining industry to maintain commercial 

viability. The state under this chosen system 

is obligated to ensure that laws and policies are clear, definitive 

and consistently applied. In essence, in 2004, the South African 

government took the decision to replace a capitalist system in 

the mining industry (instead of reforming the owned minerals 

system and making it more accessible to all South Africans), with a 

socialist one.

The subsequent maladministration, policy uncertainty, corruption 

and legal uncertainty which is well-reported and has plagued the 

sector, has seen the mining industry significantly reduce in size. This 

resulted in a flight of capital to alternate jurisdictions and loss of 

human and intellectual capital in the geosciences of the country to 

friendlier jurisdictions. 

The continuing debate around nationalisation, negative sentiment 

towards the South African mining industry and regulatory and 

policy framework, the opaque and tedious nature of the state 

minerals licencing process and inefficient regional offices and 

bureaucrats was finally addressed in February 2018 with the 

appointment of Minister Mantashe, who has embarked on a 

“IN FEBRUARY 2018, 
MINISTER MANTASHE 

EMBARKED ON A PROCESS 
OF REFORMING THE STATE 

ADMINISTRATION OF 
MINERALS”
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process of reforming the state administration of minerals, given the 

importance of the mining industry and contribution to the gross 

domestic product and the economy of South Africa.

It is the objective of Union Atlantic Minerals’ management (the only 

domestically listed junior exploration on the JSE) to contribute to 

the process of rejuvenating the minerals industry of South Africa 

by accessing investment capital, both foreign and domestic, and 

contributing technical and managerial excellence for the benefit of 

all stakeholders to develop projects from the primary exploration 

stage all the way through the resource development cycle.

This is a critical time for the minerals industry in South Africa. It is 

up to the collective, the domestic industry, domestic capital and 

South African minerals professionals to rejuvenate our industry and 

to turn adversity into opportunity.

Change in the structure of the South African 
minerals industry

The emergence of South Africa from international isolation in 

1994 exposed the country and its economy to the international 

markets and investor perceptions of South Africa as an investment 

destination relative to other countries. 

For decades prior to 1994, the South African minerals industry 

was dominated by six mining houses which provided capital and 

technical expertise to mining operations and companies. The 

minerals industry was isolated and as such protected from the 

global mining industry by sanctions and isolation. The six mining 

houses formed a conglomerate structure by which fees, ultimately 

deemed excessive by international investors, were paid by mines 

in the conglomerate group for technical and financing services to 

group mines. The international investment community in the early 

1990s pressured the mining houses to break up their conglomerate 

structures and to become focussed mining companies.

The South African conglomerates desired to acquire an offshore 

listing with London being the preferred choice. This was driven by 

the need to access capital resources at lower cost, an opportunity 

to raise the efficiencies of the business by competing in global 

markets, to expand their business into other foreign jurisdictions 

and to promote investment into South Africa while improving 

the profile of South Africa as an investment destination globally. 

In 2002, the South African Reserve Bank (SARB) exchange control 

authorities set guidelines to decide whether to grant permission to 

South African companies to change the domicile of their primary 

listings. This included factors such as balance of payments benefits 

for the country, advantages in raising capital, that the financial 

reserves of the country would not see an outflow, and most 

importantly that all the South African operations and assets of the 

company would remain in South Africa. 

The six South African mining companies that dominated the 

industry used the opportunity provided them by the SARB to 

transform their business and internationalised their operations. 

However, the one conclusion reached by the SARB failed to 

materialise. The assumptions regarding the non-termination of 

mining operations in South Africa and the expansion of large 

international mining companies into South Africa by operators in 

the country proved to be incorrect, largely as a consequence of the 

bureaucratic nature, opaque and unclear regulations and subjective 

application of the MPRDA and Mining Charter promulgated 

thereunder by government officials. As a consequence, the South 

African industry lost its major sources of focussed access to 

capital and managerial and technical skills. The capital previously 

earmarked for the development of the mining sector in South 

Africa flowed to alternate jurisdictions and economic sectors. 

The capital trapped in South Africa by international isolation, 

which had resulted in investment into alternate industries linked to 

mining and which were required to service the needs of the mining 

industry, resulted in the industrialisation of the South African 

economy. This demonstrated how the development of a primary 

minerals industry could ultimately result in the development of 

additional industries which were initially entirely dependent on it 

and which subsequently expanded and became more independent, 

creating their own value and wealth for their stakeholders and 

the country. The primary minerals industry is the catalyst for the 

industrialisation of an economy.

International minerals companies view investments differently 

to domestic industries in that international interests prevail over 

domestic interests, opportunities for domestic capital are limited, 

development is restricted to mining projects and large domestic 

mining companies, which in developing countries are viewed as 

economic champions, are lost to the country. The offshore listing of 

mining champions in the early 1990s and the demise of the South 

African mining house system, deprived South Africa of significant 

financial and technical capability for the development of the 

country beyond the parameters of the minerals industry.

A listing on a domestic securities exchange gives both institutional 

and individual investors the opportunity to invest in the 

development of their own companies and mining projects. This 

allows public scrutiny of the application of capital and technical 

competence in progressing a minerals project.

The minerals industry in South Africa in 2018 stands alone, without 

a powerful champion as it did in the past. It must rely on its own 

investment community, both institutional and individual and the will 

of its own government, citizens and stakeholders to initiate new 

mining projects. The concerns over the poor rating as an investment 

destination by entities such as the Fraser Institute based in 

Vancouver, Canada, are a cause for concern and Minister Mantashe 

has taken due cognisance thereof. 

All stakeholders should endeavour to make the South African 
minerals industry an attractive destination for foreign capital, but 
more importantly, must prioritise making our industry an attractive 
investment destination for domestic investors, both individual 
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and institutional. As a South African-domiciled company with 
South African management, Union Atlantic Minerals cannot rely 
exclusively on foreign capital to develop its projects and the industry. 

The South African minerals industry and its stakeholders need to 
recognise that the business environment is different from that 
of the early 1990s and that this is an opportunity for developing 
its own minerals industry, developing mineral resources and 
beneficiating mineral production, if commercially viable, through 
partnerships between domestically based companies and the state, 
with foreign-based companies playing a secondary role in the short 
to medium-term.

South African minerals and infrastructure

The effectiveness of a junior explorer or miner in South Africa 
will be determined by the strategy management pursues, capital 
availability, personnel, exploration tactics and evaluation of which 
commodities best fit the South African industrial base. Of the 
above, risk capital and management expertise are the most 
important elements.

Boldness of the highest calibre, coupled with a faith in the 
intentions of all stakeholders to the process, will be required of 
the entrepreneurs and government officials if the endeavour is to 
move forward.

Optimised solutions on struggling mines and new discoveries in 
South Africa and Southern Africa are required to arrest the decline 
in the mining industry in South Africa. The needs of the industry in 
the country must be met. Exploration and opening of new projects 
is a key component and only this activity will refocus and rebuild 
the industry.

The objective of exploration is to: “find and acquire a maximum 
number of new economic mineral deposits with minimum cost and 
in a minimum time,” (Bailly, 1968).

Such an endeavour is influenced by many unknown factors and 
can only be considered within the context of a high risk endeavour 
where loss of input capital is a distinct possibility.

The effectiveness of the exploration effort can be measured as a 
function of the:

• Strategy followed by management

• Capital available to management and the use and application of 
such capital

• Personnel involved

• Methodology and techniques used to gather technical data

• Techniques and methodologies used to evaluate technical results 
and to place a value on the minerals in the ground

• Political, environmental and infrastructural constraints

The Board of directors and executive management of Union Atlantic 

Minerals have formulated a strategy on what minerals to 

target in the portfolio building process, the jurisdictions and 

geological regions in which these minerals can be found, and the 

methodologies and technologies to be used to obtain economic 

mineral deposits in the selected mineral classes.

Capital is the link between the formulation of the strategy and 

the tactical execution of the business strategy. Without access to 

adequate risk capital, the search for new deposits and building of 

new mining projects in South Africa will not be successful, despite a 

prospective geological setting and high quality technical skills.

Competitive advantage

The South African minerals industry has maintained the following 

competitive advantages:

• Geological, engineering, mineral resource management and 

process engineering skills originally developed and hosted in 

the six large South African mining houses and now transferred 

to specialist engineering and mineral science companies active 

globally and particularly in Africa

• Accurate regional geological maps as hosted and developed by 

the Council for Geoscience

• Comprehensive databases of mineral deposits hosted by the 

successors of the six large mining houses. Union Atlantic 

Minerals is the beneficial owner of Goldfields’ South African 

exploration database, which was acquired in 1999

• Access to modern technology in all the earth sciences and 

engineering disciplines

• Access to modern and advanced sampling laboratories

• Geological databases which include geochemical, structural, 

sedimentological, stratigraphic and associated databases which 

can be re-interpreted using new techniques

Dr Lelau Mohuba
Chairman

4 July 2019

Theo Botoulas
Chief Executive Officer

4 July 2019
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FINANCIAL DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

For the past financial year under review, the Group’s 
net asset value decreased from 3.24 cents per share 
(August 2017) to 2.66 cents per share (August 2018). 

The net tangible asset value decreased from 0.21 cents per share 
(August 2017) to (0.36) cents per share (August 2018).

The Group reported a reduced headline loss from 1.26 cents 

per share (August 2017) to 0.58 cents per share (August 2018). 

Basic earnings per share decreased from a reported profit of 

4.07 cents per share (August 2017) to a loss of 0.58 cents per share 

(August 2018). The decrease in basic earnings was mainly because 

of the reversal of the impairment on the Rozynenbosch prospecting 

right in the August 2017 financial year.

Shareholders are reminded that due to the nature of the Company’s 

business, the trading statements are based on the net asset value 

per share.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND PERFORMANCE

The following events need to be highlighted:

Disposal of 100% of the shares held in Miranda Coal 
(Pty) Limited

All the conditions precedent with respect to the sale of Miranda 

Coal have been satisfied and therefore, the transaction was 

implemented on 16 August 2018 and the Company received the 

total consideration of R8 million.

Disposal of the entire equity interest in Sesikhona 
Klipbrand Colliery (Pty) Limited

Section 11 Ministerial Consent was granted for the disposal of 

the Remaining Shares 37 shares (37% interest) in Sesikhona on 

17 December 2018. All the conditions precedent with respect to 

the sale of Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery (Pty) Limited, have been 

satisfied and therefore, the transaction was implemented on 

29 January 2019 and the Company received the final consideration 

of R2.5 million.

B-BBEE Transaction in respect of Rozynenbosch

All the conditions precedent with respect to the B-BBEE 

Transaction, have been satisfied and therefore, the transaction 

was implemented on 14 August 2018. The Broad-Based Black 

Economic Empowerment (B-BBEE) transaction had no effect on the 

consolidated results of the Group.

Rozynenbosch – Right to silver

It has come to the attention of the Company’s management that 

the rights for gold and silver at Rozynenbosch have been issued 

to an unknown third party. Management has advised the DMR 

that the award for silver is contrary to the documents filed by the 

Company, which have always included silver in the applications, 

and that due process and consultation was not followed by the 

third party.

In addition, the historic content of documentation between 

the Company and the DMR reflect silver as being part of the 

Rozynenbosch right. The Company is of the view that the right 

to silver has been erroneously awarded to the third party and has 

taken steps to have this set aside.

Management has directed the appropriate appeals to the DMR and 

has taken legal steps to ameliorate the risk and to secure the rights 

of the Company.

Settlement of outstanding creditors and debt

The Company is now in a position to apply for lifting of the 

suspension of the trading of its shares. Most of the Company’s 

outstanding debt has been settled and agreements reached 

with remaining creditors. The Company will now enter the  

re-capitalisation process which is necessary for further development 

of its assets and for exploring new opportunities in the mining and 

exploration space.

Adriaan Botha
Financial director

4 July 2019
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MANAGING OUR RISKS 

SUSTAINED RESOURCE AND EXPLORATION FAILURE

Impact Policies and systems Mitigation

•  The Group’s sole remaining exploration 

asset may deliver results lower than 

forecast by the Competent Persons 

relying on data and estimates from 

historical drilling results

•  Mineral resources and mineral reserves 

committee to be established

•  Mineral resources and mineral reserves 

policy to be established

•  Adherence to industry standards and the 

South African Code for the Reporting of 

Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 

and Mineral Reserves (SAMREC) codes

•  Creation of a pipeline of projects to 

ameliorate the risk associated with a 

single project and the re-evaluation of the 

portfolio of mineral rights in subsidiaries 

of the Company

•  Actively apply for new prospecting rights 

and focus on acquisition of companies 

and/or projects

•  Constant review of mineral resources and 

mineral reserves against the fluctuating 

metals price environment

LACK OF IDENTIFICATION OF NEW EXPLORATION TARGETS

Impact Policies and systems Mitigation

•  Lack of identification of new exploration 

targets may lead to a static resource and 

reserve statement, a delay in establishing 

a revenue generating mining operation, 

and the dependence on a sole project 

for future growth, thus influencing the 

Company’s ability to meet its strategic 

objectives

•   Exploration and development are capital 

intensive activities with no absolute 

guarantee of success, but are a pre-

requisite for the growth of a junior 

exploration company

•  Development of:

•  exploration project pipeline application, 

acquisition and evaluation policies

•  long-term business strategy and 

investment in exploration activities

•  Creation of a pipeline of projects to 

ameliorate the risk associated with a 

single project

•  Actively apply for new prospecting rights 

and focus on acquisition of companies 

and/or projects



PAGE 11Integrated Report and Annual Financial Statements 2018

INSUFFICIENT LIQUIDITY, INAPPROPRIATE FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND CAPITAL COST CONTROL AND 
INABILITY TO ACCESS FUNDING FROM CAPITAL MARKETS

Impact Policies and systems Mitigation

•  The Company will be required to seek 

funding from the equity markets and/

or financial institutions to develop its 

operations and projects and acquire 

assets in line with its growth strategy

•  The recent weakness in the equity 

markets and negative sentiment 

surrounding the minerals sector in 

South Africa may negatively impact the 

Company’s ability to secure capital and 

finance required to effectively operate the 

business

•  Failure or inability to monitor capital 

expenditure and costs associated with 

progressing capital projects may result in 

financial losses or overspend on projects

•  Against the historical background of the 

Company, the CEO and members of the 

Board will focus in particular on:

•  financial strategy, cash forecasting 
and management

•  capital forecasting and monitoring

•  budgeting and reporting processes

•  project approval process

•  capital expenditure policy and formal 

approval documents

•  The Board will monitor the operational 

forecast of the Company against 

budgeted forecasts and the business plan

•  Two and five year forecasts will assist 

the Board in understanding the risks 

facing the Company and future financing 

requirements where external financing 

from the capital markets or financiers 

may be required

•  A comprehensive budget will be prepared 

annually and presented to the Board 

for approval and will be reviewed on a 

quarterly basis to monitor expenditure 

against the approved budget

•  Expenditure will occur as per approved 

budget and any expenditure not allocated 

for in the approved budget will require a 

formal capital application document to be 

prepared for presentation to the Board

•   Executive approval for all capital 

expenditures and major expenditures will 

be required

•   Accounting systems with levels of 

authority to approve expenditure will be 

implemented by the financial director

FAILURE TO ACQUIRE CASH GENERATIVE ASSETS IN THE SHORT TERM

Impact Policies and systems Mitigation

•  The Company’s management has broad 

technical knowledge in the metals and 

precious stones sectors and the skills and 

knowledge to construct a commercially 

viable business case for underperforming 

assets in other companies. Potential 

acquisitions and optimisation of these 

assets to present to shareholders and 

the capital markets in order to access 

the requisite capital to restructure and/or 

redevelop them

•  Continuous raising of capital in the equity 

markets

•  Management to follow appropriate and 

applicable formal due diligence and 

evaluation processes using independent 

corporate advisors in respect of 

acquisitions

•  Sale of shares agreement entered into 

with the party disposing of the asset, 

and meeting obligations with local 

communities, government administrators 

and minority shareholders

•  Best offer beneficial to own 
shareholders made

•  Continuous evaluation of a pipeline of 

acquisition opportunities

•  Assets are bought after all commercial 

factors and those influencing the business 

environment are considered

•  Formal Board of directors processes 

followed before investment decision or 

acquisition is made

•  Focussed development of both 

brownfields and greenfields projects and 

constant evaluation of Company mineral 

rights portfolio
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MANAGING OUR RISKS 
CONTINUED

FAILURE TO ATTRACT AND RETAIN KEY STAFF AND POOR SUCCESSION PLANNING

Impact Policies and systems Mitigation

•  The failure to source and retain key 

staff may cause short term disruption 

to the business and operations of the 

Company 

•  Succession planning will be a priority for 

the Board

•  Training and development of staff is a 

primary objective

•  Executive and employee incentive 

schemes to be developed and approved

•  Formal organogram to be developed 

by the CEO for skills and staffing 

requirements to meet the short term 

objectives of the Company

•  Appropriate and suitably qualified staff 

have been identified for the immediate 

objectives

FAILURE TO AMELIORATE COUNTRY RISK BY ACCESSING MINERAL TARGETS IN FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS

Impact Policies and systems Mitigation

•  The Company’s management will be 

compelled to constantly manage the 

regulatory minerals environment in a 

single jurisdiction if this jurisdiction was to 

become hostile to providers of capital

•  The Company’s management would 

have difficulty in conducting business 

in a responsible manner in a jurisdiction 

where tenure and capital are threatened 

and threats of nationalisation are 

constant

•  It is likely that the Company could again 

become mired in litigation, community 

disputes and regulatory hurdles, all 

of which may make it impossible to 

raise capital

•  Management to follow appropriate and 

applicable laws in a transparent and  

co-operative manner  

•  Assets to be identified and sourced in 

alternative jurisdictions

•  An offshore financing vehicle is to be 

created wholly compliant with domestic 

exchange control regulations, a fully held 

subsidiary of Union Atlantic Minerals 

Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
Dr Lelau Mohuba (61) 

MBChB
Appointed on 27 July 2012

Southdowns Office Park, Block A, Ground Floor, Corner of John 
Vorster Drive and Karee Street, Irene X45, 0062

Dr Lelau Mohuba is a retired medical officer with over 24 years of 

practice in the Limpopo province, having held various leadership 

positions in the health sector. He entered the business sector in 

2001 through a joint venture with Goodyear Holdings as a black-

owned tyre and rubber franchise business called Shikisha Tyre and 

Rubber (Pty) Limited. Dr Lelau subsequently went into the mining 

industry in 2003 as a business development director for Boynton 

Platinum. Boynton Platinum was then a local operating company 

for Canadian company Platmin, with platinum assets in South 

Africa. He assisted the company towards a dual listing in 2006 both 

on the Toronto Stock Exchange and AIM boards. 

Dr Lelau then co-founded Sephaku Holdings in 2005 with 
Rudolph de Bruin and David Twist, then a multiple mineral 

exploration entity. He was its founding executive chairman until 

its listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in 2009. He 

subsequently became its chief executive officer from March 2012 

to date. Dr Lelau was a founding director and chairman of Sephaku 

Cement (Pty) Limited and continues as such, South Africa’s newest 

entrant (producer) into the cement industry since 1934. Sephaku 

Cement attracted the attention and investment from Africa’s largest 

cement producer, Mr Aliko Dangote out of Nigeria, who is the 

current chairman of Sephaku Cement and joint venture partner of 

Sephaku Holdings through Dangote Cement. 

Dr Lelau serves as chairman of two other entities he co-founded, 

Sephaku Fluoride (Pty) Limited and Taung Gold Limited, a subsidiary 

of Taung Gold International (Hong Kong listed). He also serves as 

chairman of the Company. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Theo Botoulas (57) 

MSc, Mine Overseer’s Certificate of Competency, Mine 
Manager’s Certificate of Competency 
Appointed on 15 February 2017

Southdowns Office Park, Block C, Suite 7, Corner of John Vorster 
Drive and Karee Street, Irene X45, 0062

Mr Botoulas holds an MSc (Mining Engineering) (Wits), a Mine 

Overseer’s Certificate of Competency (Metalliferous Mines) and a 

Mine Manager’s Certificate of Competency (Metalliferous Mines). 

He is a registered Professional Engineer with the Engineering 

Council of South Africa.

He has previous experience in the turnaround of listed companies 

and mining operations in the role of Chief Executive Officer.

FINANCIAL DIRECTOR
Adriaan Botha (42) 

BCom (Hons), CA (SA)
Appointed on 1 March 2018

Southdowns Office Park, Block C, Suite 7, Corner of John Vorster 
Drive and Karee Street, Irene X45, 0062

For two years, the Company operated without a financial director 

as it was primarily in a semi-dormant state. Adriaan Moolman 

Botha previously acted in the capacity of financial director of the 

Company and has agreed to do so with effect from the date of 

co-option by the Board. His appointment is to be confirmed by the 

Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, which appointment 

will be for a period of one year. 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Peter Cook (66) 

Cert IMM, PMD 
Appointed on 27 January 2012

Corner 5th Street and Fredman Drive, Entrance 1, Building 1, Alice 
Lane, Sandton, 2196

Mr Cook has been employed in the short-term insurance industry 

for over 40 years, servicing clients in a wide variety of industries, 

particularly mining and manufacturing. He is currently appointed as 

Infrastructure Practice Leader with a global insurance broking firm.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Gideon Joubert (66) 

PREng, MSAICE, BSc (Eng), MSc
Appointed on 20 January 2012

334 Clark Street, Waterkloof, Pretoria, 0181

Mr Joubert is a Professional Engineer (PrEng), a member of the 

South African Institute of Civil Engineers and is registered as a 

Chartered Engineer in the United Kingdom. He also is an associate 

member of The Institution of Structural Engineers in the United 

Kingdom. 

Mr Joubert worked as a structural engineer in South Africa before 

moving into management in 1979. In 1994 he was appointed 

managing director of a company that came to be known as Civil 

Concepts in 1995, a position he held until 2010. 

Mr Joubert retired from Civil Concepts in February 2012 to seek 
new challenges. Since his appointment as an independent non-
executive director, he also served on the Audit and Risk and well as 
Remuneration, Social and Ethics Committees.
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COMPANY STRUCTURE 

70%
 Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited 

Rozynenbosch NC30/5/1/1/2

51 rights under appeal

87%
Lauraville Mynbou (Pty) Limited

50%
Firefox Investments (Pty) Limited 

(Botswana company)

70%
Naledi Mining Solutions  

(Pty) Limited

100%
 Molebogeng Mining Investment 

Holdings (Pty) Limited

51%
 Blue Moonlight Properties 215  

(Pty) Limited

67%
 Winter Breeze Trading 78  

(Pty) Limited

100%
 Emerald Sky Trading 467  

(Pty) Limited

67%
 Little Swift Investments 385  

(Pty) Limited

Union Atlantic
MINERALS

70%
City Square Trading 977  

(Pty) Limited 
(dormant)

55%
 Altivex 615 (Pty) Limited 

(dormant)

74%
 Kiel 128 Exploration  

(Pty) Limited 
(dormant)
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The Rozynenbosch Project is an exploration project that targets a lead-silver-zinc and copper 
deposit in the Northern Cape province of South Africa. Rozynenbosch is held under an executed 
Prospecting Right covering 65km2. 

OPERATIONAL REVIEW 
ROZYNENBOSCH PROJECT

GEOLOGICAL SETTING, MINERALISATION  
AND DEPOSIT TYPE

The Rozynenbosch lead-silver-zinc-copper deposit occurs as a 

sedimentary-exhalative (SEDEX) deposit in the Kakamas Terrane 

of the Namaqua-Natal Metamorphic Complex. Mineralisation was 

remobilised and tectonically displaced during later structural events. 

The deposit is located within the Rozynenbosch Formation, which 

comprises two main rock type groups, namely a felspathic (arkosic) 

unit consisting of quartz, feldspar, biotite gneiss and a calc-silicate 

unit comprising amphibole, metadolomite, marble and calc-silicate 

rocks with minor granitic gneiss and biotite gneiss. The stratabound 

mineralised zone of disseminated sulphides occurs in the gneiss and 

terminates on the amphibolites. At least four phases of deformation 

are recognised at Rozynenbosch.

EXPLORATION

In the 1970s and 1980s, the property was extensively explored 

by Phelps Dodge Corporation and Gold Fields South Africa, with 

no modern exploration having been undertaken on the property. 

The historical work included geophysical surveys, geochemical 

soil sampling, geochemical stream sampling, mineralogical work, 

geological mapping and drilling (68 diamond drillholes in total). 

The drilling samples were analysed for lead, zinc, silver and specific 

gravity. Unfortunately, not all the information is available. 

INDEPENDENT REVIEW

Minxcon was commissioned by Union Atlantic Minerals to complete 

an Independent Competent Person’s Mineral Resource report with a 

mineral asset valuation on the Rozynenbosch Project. 
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LOCATION

The project occurs on the farm Rozynenbosch 104 in the Kenhardt district, 38km south-east of the town of Kakamas and 78km south-west 

of Upington. The seasonal Hartbees River forms the western boundary of the project area.

EVALUATION METHODOLOGY

Minxcon captured the available geological information from logs 

and assay sheets derived from historical drillholes. The available 

historical sections and plans were scanned into digital format and 

used as a reference for geological modelling. 

All interpreted lithologies were digitised and captured in 3D space 

once the sections were georeferenced in a geographic information 

system (GIS).

The geological model was created using historic sections and 

drillholes to create a 3D geological model. These sections were 

georeferenced and used as guidelines for the creation of mineral 

resource wireframes. The drillholes were included into the 3D 

model and were used as a reference to the sections to ensure 

the referencing of the sections was correct. Not all the drillholes 

that appeared on the sections had geological logs that could be 

captured into digital format. Where the drillholes do appear on the 

sections, these were used to guide the geological interpretation of 

the orebody.

The ampholite layers were modelled to constrict the mineralised 

zone. Further lithologies that cut or removed the mineralised zone 

were the pegmatites and thrust faulting. The ore mineralisation 

was created using grade shells based on a 0.5% lead natural cut-

off. The shape and direction of the grade shells was based on the 

plunge of the folding and the relationship of the lead values when 

plotted using variography of the values. 

The mineral resource estimation was conducted using inverse 

distance squared (ID2) and two separate runs were conducted. 

The raw drillhole assays were used for the estimation of the inferred 

mineral resource, and an exploration target estimation was carried 

out on a less complete dataset which informed the down dip 

extension of the Inferred portion of the model. 

OPERATIONAL REVIEW CONTINUED 
ROZYNENBOSCH PROJECT
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The search ranges for the estimation were based on an omni-

directional variogram range of the lead values and a minimum 

of two drillholes were used for the estimation. A minimum of 

five samples and a maximum of 20 samples were used to inform 

the estimation.

The omni-directional variogram with a range of 88m for the lead 

content and 95m for the zinc was used in the search parameters 

of the estimation. The silver content was not estimated as too few 

samples were available for the estimation. A good correlation of 

94% between silver and lead is displayed and a regression of the 

silver values was done based on this correlation.

Categorisation of the mineral resource could only be classified 

as Inferred due to the lack of quality assurance/quality control  

(QA/QC), uncertainty of the exact position of the drillholes and the 

absence of all available raw assay information. Although the QA/QC 

was not a code compliant requirement when drilled, the reputation 

of the companies that conducted the drilling, being Phelps Dodge 

and Gold Fields of South Africa, led Minxcon to accept that 

necessary steps were taken to ensure quality assays. The inferred 

mineral resource classification was thus based on the dataset that 

contains the raw assay data while the exploration target is based on 

the dataset that contains stretch values at a certain cut-off.

COMPETENT PERSON

The information in this report relating to mineral resources of 

Rozynenbosch is based on information compiled by the Competent 

Person who consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters 

based on information in the form and context in which it appears. 

The Competent Person also confirms that these disclosures are in 

compliance with the SAMREC Code and Section 12.9 of the JSE 

listing requirements.

The designated Competent Person for the mineral resources in 

terms of the SAMREC Code, is Mr Uwe Engelmann BSc (Zoo. & Bot.),  

BSc Hons (Geol.), Pr. Sci. Nat. 400058/08, MGSSA. Mr Engelmann 

is a geologist with over 20 years’ experience in mineral exploration 

and mineral resource estimation of a variety of commodities 

including base metals and precious metals. Mr Engelmann is a 

director of Minxcon and is independent of Union Atlantic Minerals, 

its subsidiaries and related companies.

MINERAL RESOURCES

The mineral resources are stated in compliance with the SAMREC 

Code and at a cut-off of 1.9% lead equivalent. The entire mineral 

resource falls within the economic open pit depth cut-off. Silver is a 

regressed value, and is not covered by the current prospecting right. 

A geological loss of 15% has been applied to the mineral resource. 

The inferred mineral resources have a large degree of uncertainty 

as to their existence and whether they can be mined economically. 

It cannot be assumed that all or any part of the inferred mineral 

resource will be upgraded to a higher confidence category.

All reported mineral resources are limited to fall within the property 

boundaries of the project area. A density of 2.84t/m3 was utilised.

ROZYNENBOSCH MINERAL RESOURCES
Including silver, as at 31 January 2018 (Minxcon)

Mineral resource 
classification

Tonnes  
(less geo-

logical 
losses) Pb Zn Ag*

Mt % % g/t

Inferred 3.10 2.17 0.31 36.47

ROZYNENBOSCH EXPLORATION TARGET

as at 31 January 2018 (Minxcon)

Target at a cut-
off at 1% lead

Tonnes Pb Zn Ag*
Mt % % g/t

Maximum 4.4 2.25 0.53 36.01

Minimum 3.6 1.95 0.43 18.17

*ROZYNENBOSCH – RIGHT TO SILVER

It has come to the attention of the Company’s management that 

the rights for gold and silver at Rozynenbosch have been issued 

to an unknown third party. Management has advised the DMR 

that the award for silver is contrary to the documents filed by the 

Company, which have always included silver in the applications, 

and that due process and consultation was not followed by the 

third party.

In addition, the historic content of documentation between 

the Company and the DMR reflect silver as being part of the 

Rozynenbosch right. The Company is of the view that the right 

to silver has been erroneously awarded to the third party and has 

taken steps to have this set aside.

FURTHER WORK PLANNED FOR ROZYNENBOSCH 
IN 2019

The short-term strategy for Rozynenbosch is to conduct brownfields 

exploration, consisting of ‘twin-hole’ confirmatory drilling of the 

work conducted by Phelps-Dodge and Gold Fields. 

This will consist of 3,900m of NQ exploration drilling (both ‘twin-

hole’ as well as further drilling of the orebody at depth) and 

some 1,000m of NQ exploration/geo-technical drilling. Two 200m 

boreholes for water will also be drilled. The core will be stored, 

logged and assayed as per SAMREC-compliant practice and the 

results used to update the Competent Person’s report as compiled 

by Minxcon in 2018.

The objective of management will be to produce a SAMREC-

compliant scoping study of the project to be presented to the 

Board of Union Atlantic Minerals as well as to our B-BBEE partners 

on which a decision on the future of the Rozynenbosch Project can 

be formulated.
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW CONTINUED 
ROZYNENBOSCH PROJECT

B-BBEE IN RESPECT OF ROZYNENBOSCH PROJECT

The Company, Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited, being the company 

which holds the Rozynenbosch Prospecting Right, Kwanda 

Minerals Holdings Proprietary Limited (Kwanda), a company 

wholly owned by historically disadvantaged South Africans, and 

a trust to be established by the Company for the benefit of the 

mining community situated in and around the Rozynenbosch area 

(Trust), concluded a B-BBEE transaction on 19 October 2017 in 

terms of which Kwanda and the Trust (B-BBEE Subscribers) agreed 

to subscribe for shares in Miranda Minerals constituting, upon 

issue, 30% of the entire issued share capital of Miranda Minerals 

(Rozynenbosch B-BBEE Transaction).

The terms pertaining to the financing of the Rozynenbosch B-BBEE 
Transaction are as follows:

The Company will vendor finance, on loan account:

• The subscription by Kwanda of such number of shares in 

Miranda Minerals, constituting, upon issue, 18% of the entire 

issued share capital of Miranda Minerals

• The subscription by the Trust of such number of shares in 

Miranda Minerals, constituting, upon issue, 12% of the entire 

issued share capital of Miranda Minerals 

The loans advanced under the above vendor finance arrangement 

to Kwanda and the Trust, respectively, will be repayable on the 

third anniversary of the commencement date (defined as the 

fifth business day after the date of fulfilment of all the conditions 

precedent) or such later date as may be agreed upon by the parties 

in writing (repayment date) and secured in favour of the Company 

by way of a pledge in security of the Miranda Minerals’ shares 

issued to each of them.

The loans advanced to each of the B-BBEE Subscribers will be 

repaid to the Company out of the proceeds of dividends, other 

distributions and sale proceeds arising from the disposal of the 

shares held by each of them.

In the event of Kwanda and/or the Trust not being in a position 

to repay the loans advanced to them on the repayment date, the 

parties to the Shareholders’ Agreement have agreed to meet and 

negotiate in good faith alternative terms and conditions relating to 

the servicing and repayment of the loan.

The conditions precedent relating to the Rozynenbosch B-BBEE 

Transaction and other terms are as follows:

• The Trust is registered by the Master of the High Court, 

Johannesburg, and letters of authority are issued to its trustees

• Miranda Minerals adopting and filing with the Companies and 

Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC) a new Memorandum of 

Incorporation (MOI)

• Kwanda and the Trust respectively having entered into the 

relevant Security Pledge Agreements

• The Company and Miranda Minerals respectively adopting such 

Board and shareholder resolutions necessary to give effect to the 

Transaction

As part of its B-BBEE initiatives, the Company has granted Kwanda 

the right to increase its shareholding in Miranda Minerals, by 

subscribing for such number of additional shares as shall, upon 

issue, result in the B-BBEE subscribers, collectively, holding up to a 

maximum of 50% of the issued ordinary share capital of Miranda 

Minerals, subject to the terms and conditions set out in the 

Shareholders’ Agreement. 

The B-BBEE transaction was registered by the B-BBEE Commission 

on 10 April 2018 and, to this end, the B-BBEE Commission has 

issued a registration certificate confirming the registration.

EXPLORATION, ACQUISITION AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group and the Company will pursue brownfields projects in 

known mineral producing areas. The initial area of focus will include 

projects in proximity to the Rozynenbosch Project in the Northern 

Cape province, and will be expanded to other jurisdictions in due 

course.

The management team will be restricted to considering 

development targets which have the following inherent 

characteristics:

• Lower barrier-to-entry in terms of capital and on which some 

work has previously been conducted

• Targeting and prioritising surface mining operations

• Known areas of operation with mining and processing methods 

which are well understood

• Both revenues and operating costs well understood – targets are 

projects in brownfields areas

• Dormant assets which comprise solid orebodies, but which  

are anticipated to be commercially viable with the application  

of technology

• Areas which have become viable with new geological 

interpretation

• Comparatively short time for access to cashflow and which 

can become commercially viable with innovative and flexible 

application of skills, controls and technology

FOUNDATION PROJECTS

• The acquisition of base-metal or technology metal deposits (as 

well as selected precious metals and stones projects) in known 

producing areas on which previous work has been conducted

• The initiation of operations on a small-scale using technology 

driven processing equipment as and when a commercially viable 

reserve is identified

• To grow the initial resource until larger operations can be 

justified

DORMANT COMPANIES AND PROJECTS

• To acquire dormant companies or projects at current value

• To implement turnaround strategies using experienced staff and 

new technologies

• To leverage the skills of the management team and their 

networks
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

As reported in the previous year, the 
Company continued focusing on  
 its turnaround. Although the Board 

constituted a number of Board sub-committees, 
matters of the Company continued to be 
considered during this period. 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The Company is subject to the ongoing disclosure, corporate 

governance and other requirements imposed by the provisions of 

the South African Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended (the 

Companies Act), the JSE Listings Requirements and the King Report 

on Corporate Governance for South Africa (King Report).

The Board applied, as far as possible, principles of good corporate 

governance as advocated by the King Report. However, as per the 

previous year’s reporting, there were limitations which led to non-

compliance in some areas. 

Together with implementation of the strategy, the main aim is 

to apply the recommended best practices in line with the latest 

publication of the King Report, to ensure compliance with the 

JSE Listings Requirements and the Companies Act, as amended, 

during the 2018 financial year. 

As demonstrated on page 27 of this report, the Company, under 

difficult circumstances, failed to fully embrace the principles of the 

King Report, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board remained the primary custodian of compliance with 

corporate governance and provided strategic direction under the 

continuous leadership of Dr Lelau Mohuba, the current Chairman 

serving from 22 September 2014 until the date of this report. 

Theo Botoulas remained CEO and Adriaan Botha financial director. 

The roles of Chairman and CEO remained separated.

The Company continued to comply with the minimum director 

requirement of its Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI), 

maintaining a balanced Board with a clear division of responsibility 

at board-level while ensuring a balance of power and authority. No 

one individual had unfettered powers of decision-making. 

BOARD CHARTER

The Board, in accordance with the principles of good corporate 

governance, adopted a Board Charter complying with applicable 

guidelines and requirements, regulating how business is to 

be conducted by the Board. The Board Charter allows for the 

formation of Board sub-committees with the purpose of assisting 

the Board in executing its duties, power and authorities. As 

reported in the introduction of this report, no delegation of 

responsibilities to or decision making by the sub-committees 

occurred and the Board as a whole considered all matters 

pertaining to the Company. 

The Board Charter is continuously reviewed and revised to ensure 

ongoing compliance and good governance. 

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this report, the Board is comprised of five 

directors. Profiles of all Board members can be found on page 13.

Non-executive Chairman: Dr Lelau Mohuba  
(appointed 27 January 2012)

Non-executive director: Gideon Joubert  
(appointed 25 January 2012)

Non-executive director: Peter Cook  
(appointed 1 February 2012)

Chief Executive Officer: Theo Botoulas  
(appointed 1 February 2017)

Financial director: Adriaan Botha  
(appointed 1 March 2018)

None of the directors have been appointed for a period exceeding 

nine years. 

There were no resignations during the period under review. 

The current directors bring a wide range of expertise, commercial, 

technical and business acumen, allowing them to exercise 

independent judgement in Board deliberations and decisions. The 

Company has not yet conducted a formal evaluation of the Board’s 

performance and will re-introduce this practice as soon as the 

turnaround strategy has been fully implemented. 

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is accountable for relations with stakeholders and is 

responsible for creating, protecting and enhancing the Company’s 

wealth and resources, timeous and transparent reporting, and 

at all times acting in the best interests of the Company and its 

shareholders. 

The Board was unable to ensure timeous reporting on the financial 

affairs of the Company due to continuous challenges with limited 

resources. However, throughout this period, the Board continued to 

act in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. 

The Board’s primary functions include, but are not limited to:

• Oversight of the Group (the Company and its subsidiaries) and 
the strategic direction and control of the Group

• Setting the values to which the Company will adhere to as 
formulated in its code of conduct

• Ensuring that its conduct and that of management aligns with 
the corporate values and is adhered to in all aspects of business

• Promoting a stakeholder-inclusive approach to governance

• Ensuring that all deliberations, decisions and actions are based 
on the four values of good governance, which are responsibility, 
accountability, fairness and transparency

• Ensuring that the Company acts as, and is seen to be a 
responsible corporate citizen

• Approving major capital projects, acquisitions or divestments

• Controlling the issue or disposal of the authorised but  
unissued securities
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• Exercising an objective judgement of the Group’s business affairs, 
independent of that of management

• Ensuring that appropriate governance structures, policies and 
procedures are in place

• Ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls

• Reviewing and evaluating the Group’s risks

• Approving the annual budget and operating plan

• Approving the annual and interim financial results and 

shareholder communications

• Approving the senior management structure, responsibilities and 

succession plans

CHAIRMAN
Dr Lelau Mohuba was appointed Chairman of the Board on  
27 January 2012.

The core functions of the Chairman are as follows:

• Providing direction necessary for an effective Board

• Providing overall leadership to the Board and setting an ethical 

tone

• Identifying and participating in the selection of Board members 

and overseeing a formal succession plan for the Board

• Playing an active role in setting agendas for Board meetings

• Effectively managing conflicts of interest

• Setting the Board’s work plan

• Ensuring that decisions taken at Board meetings are executed

• Directing induction and ensuring that directors have a good 

knowledge of their duties and responsibilities

• Ensuring a good relationship is maintained between the 

Company and its stakeholders

• Meeting with the CEO and company secretary prior to Board 

meetings to discuss pressing issues

• Assessing the performance of the CEO and the Board

• A performance assessment of the CEO will be done during the 

2019 financial period 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors applied their minds independently to 

matters of the Company. 

All non-executive directors’ appointments will be formalised 

through letters of appointment. Their re-appointment will be 

subject to respective performances and evaluation thereof. 

Non-executive directors are required to devote sufficient time to 

the Company’s affairs and act in accordance with their letters 

of appointment. Non-executive directors are further required to 

prepare themselves adequately to participate in Board meetings. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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The non-executive directors are not involved in the day-to-

day operations of the Company nor are they employees of 

the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The independent non-executive directors declare that:

• They are not a representative of any shareholder who has 

the ability to control or materially influence management or 

the Board

• They hold less than 5% of the total issued share capital of the 

Company

• They do not have an interest in the Company which is more than 

5%, which is material to his personal wealth

• They were not employed by the Group in any executive capacity 

for the preceding three financial years nor have they been the 

designated auditor or a senior legal adviser for the last three years

• They are not a member of the immediate family of an individual 

who is, or has been in any of the past three financial years, 

employed by the Group in an executive capacity

• They are not professional advisers to the Group, other than in 

the capacity as an independent non-executive director

• They are not a supplier or material supplier to the Group, or to 

clients of the Group

• They have no material contractual relationship with the Group

• They are free from any business or other relationship which could 

be seen to materially interfere with their individual capacity to 

act in an independent manner

The above-mentioned criteria will also be applicable in the future 

appointment of independent non-executive directors.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The executive directors are responsible for the day-to-day business 

of the Company. The CEO is an employee of the Company with a 

permanent service contract. 

Executive directors are held accountable through regular reports to 

the Board. Their performance will in future be measured against the 

agreed performance criteria and objectives relevant to the current 

stage in the business cycle and future prospects. 

BOARD APPOINTMENT PROCESS

Directors are appointed through a formal process. In the absence 

of a functioning Nomination Committee, the Board as a whole 

considered the above-mentioned executive appointments. 

Going forward, the Board will ensure that the Nomination 

Committee identifies persons with the required skills and experience 

to contribute to the strategy, performance, standard of conduct and 

resources of the Company. 

The Nomination Committee will ensure the implementation of 

Gender Diversity and Race Diversity Policies as prescribed by  

the JSE.

DIRECTOR DEVELOPMENT

All future appointees would be subject to a formal induction 

programme. 

Directors are regularly updated on changes in risks, applicable laws 

and the environment. The Company is committed to providing 

continuing training and development to directors and officers.

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS

The rotation of directors is governed by article 5.1.11 of the MOI of 

the Company. 

Not less than one third of directors will retire from office at each 

annual general meeting (AGM) of the Company. Retiring directors 

shall be those who occupied the office of director for the longest 

period since their last election or appointment. Retiring directors 

shall be eligible for re-election. 

Peter Cook will retire and has offered himself for re-election. 

The Board assessed the performance of non-executive directors and 

agreed to recommend his re-appointment.

BOARD MEETING FREQUENCY AND ATTENDANCE

Four Board meetings were held during the period under review. 

Where necessary, decisions were taken between Board meetings by 

written resolution as permitted for in terms of the Company’s MOI 

and the Companies Act. 

Attendance record of board meetings

Board member
11 Sept 

2017
13 Nov 

2017
24 Jan 

2018
15 Jan 

2019

L Mohuba 
(Chairperson) P P P P

D Joubert P P P P

P Cook P P P P

T Botoulas P A P P

A Botha X X X P

Company secretary P P P P

Apology – A Present – P

Alternate – AP Absent/not appointed – X

Resigned – R

BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES

As reported in the previous report, the Board constituted several 

Board sub-committees. However, the Board considered matters 

pertaining to the Company during the period under review and 

primarily as the focus remained on the turnaround of the Company. 

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The Audit and Risk Committee did consider the Interim Financial 

Statements for the period ending February 2018 and recommended 

it to the Board for approval. This was done via round robin 

resolution. The Audit and Risk Committee did not meet separately, 

and the Board ensured the integrity of the financial statements 

which fairly represent the state of affairs of the Company and the 

Group as a whole. This Integrated Report is therefore compiled and 

presented by the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

External auditors

Ernst & Young Inc. (EY) was appointed as external auditors of the 

Company on 23 May 2016 with Mr Dawie Venter as the designated 

audit partner. Since their first appointment, they have completed 

the audits for August 2014 – August 2017 and have been re-

appointed to perform the audit for the August 2018 financial year.

The Board is satisfied with the ongoing independence of the 

external auditors and confirms that it has nominated the external 

auditors for re-appointment in the 2019 financial year. 

The Board is further satisfied that the external auditors and audit 

partner are accredited after considering the information presented 

to it, including the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors 

(IRBA) inspection decision letters and findings reports both at the 

audit firm and the individual auditor levels. 

The annual audit fees for the financial period August 2018 

amounted to R660,000 and were approved by the Board.

Non-audit services

It is confirmed that there were no non-audit services approved for 

the periods under review.

Risk management

The Board as a whole was responsible for the risk management of 

the Group. The risk report is available on page 10 of this report. 

Remuneration, social and ethics committee

Although the Company established a Social and Ethics Committee 

for a period under review, the Board considered matters of this 

nature. The Board presents this report to shareholders.

No issues of a social or ethical nature were brought to the attention 

of the Board. 

The financial director continued to receive monthly remuneration of 

R70,000.

The financial director’s remuneration was accepted at R72,800 per 

month, effective 1 March 2019, which represents an inflationary 

increase to the agreement reached on 1 March 2018. 

The non-executive directors have not received any remuneration since 
2014. As previously reported, the Company has investigated avenues 
to remunerate these non-executive directors for their commitment to 
the Company during trying times. 

FINANCIAL DIRECTOR

The Board remained of the view that Adriaan Botha, appointed 

as the financial director since 1 March 2018, has the necessary 

experience and expertise to fulfil the role of financial director.

The Audit and Risk Committee will in future, and after completion 

of the turnaround strategy, evaluate the performance of the 

financial director and establish whether he has the necessary 

expertise and experience, as required by paragraph 3.84(g) of the 

JSE Listings Requirements.

EVALUATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board reviewed and discussed the consolidated and separate 

financial statements with the independent external auditors and 

the financial director. Based on the information provided, the 

Board is satisfied that the Group and the Company comply, in all 

material respects, with the requirements of the Companies Act, 

and  International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The external auditors had unrestricted access to the Group’s records 

and management. There were no limitations imposed on the scope 

of the external audit. 

The Group and the Company financial statements will be open for 

discussion at the forthcoming AGM. 

The Board approved the Group and Company financial statements 

for the period August 2018 and the Integrated Report at a meeting 

held on 4 July 2019.

APPROPRIATENESS OF THE EXPERTISE AND 
ADEQUACY OF RESOURCES OF THE FINANCE 
FUNCTION

The financial management of the Company was strengthened by 

the appointment of PR Botha & Company Inc. which will, in terms 

of a formal agreement entered into during February 2018, provide 

financial management services to the Company. 

PR Botha & Company Inc. is an accounting firm of which Adriaan 

Botha, the financial director of the Company, is a director. 

The Board is satisfied with the appropriateness of the expertise and 

adequacy of the resources of the finance function. 
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION FOR 
2014 – 2018

During February 2012, the newly-constituted Board inherited a 

highly distressed Company. Besides the shortage of cash on hand 

and the absence of any incoming producing assets or projects, the 

Company had been bedeviled by shareholder disagreements, a 

failed rights issue for cash, turnover of senior management staff 

and dumping of the shares causing instability in the market.

The above issues became patently clear soon after the newly 

constituted Board’s arrival, yet they opted to stay and steady the 

ship. This was done with the addition of new Board members 

and the promise of significant shareholder support, which did not 

materialise.

The newly-constituted Board was immediately called upon to 

supervise several crisis management events with large shareholders 

joining the Board and then abandoning their positions shortly 

thereafter, resulting in a compromised strategy in the process.

Furthermore, the Board experienced a failed company 

transformation transaction in the form on Nkomati Anthracite, 

which saw the Company deteriorate to a point where it had no 

choice but to approach the JSE to request a voluntary suspension as 

funds had run dry.

Several directors resigned from the Board during this period and 

management also exited their posts as they could no longer be paid. 

The remaining Board members comprising the Chairman, Dr Lelau 

Mohuba, Deon Joubert and Peter Cook along with John Bristow 

until his resignation, then became the de facto management of 

the Company at huge personal risk. By this stage, the Company 

had also lost the ability to sustain its Director and Officers Liability 

insurance. 

Despite the above, the Board kept the JSE abreast of every step 

to date. They negotiated a tight rope with the Companies and 

Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC) for failing to submit 

financial statements over a three-year period. The Board faced the 

risk of being labelled delinquent directors several times. To date, the 

Board has not been asked to appear before the tribunal because of 

the nimble work done behind the scenes.

Aside from formal Board meetings held annually at regular intervals, 

the directors held several informal meetings that were in effect 

management meetings necessary to deal with management issues. 

Furthermore, the directors actively engaged in discussions with 

potential investors and with some of the major shareholders in 

order to raise funds for the Company.

Between September 2014 to the end of 2016, the directors 

received and evaluated no less than 30 separate proposals, offers 

and other potential transactions involving not only time in the office 

either jointly or in private, but also at the offices of attorneys and 

other professionals representing these offers. 

In order to keep the Company alive and in an effort to avoid 

liquidation, the Board successfully concluded a compromise with 

creditors as prescribed by the Companies Act. Some of the directors 

had to personally pay some of the legal costs in this regard. 

The creditors compromise was a success and has been ratified by 

Court Order.

Throughout this process no financial support was received from 

shareholders, apart from Sephaku Holdings who, through Cross 

Company Management (Pty) Limited, agreed to pay staff salaries 

and monthly expenses.

After a detailed and diligent assessment of other offers and 

proposals, a proposal put forward by the current CEO, Theo 

Botoulas, who had the courage, wisdom and experience to move 

the Company forward, was accepted. There are now many signs 

and indications of progress since he joined.

A list of the most significant interactions by the non-executive 

directors with potential investors and other invested parties over the 

past few years, are summarised in Annexure A on page 24. 

At least 29 informal meetings and discussions were held between 

2015 and 2016 and some 30 proposals or offers were evaluated 

and discussed. The non-executive directors’ commitment to the 

Company and in particular the shareholders, was unquestionable. 

They have continued with their duties in the face of enormous 

odds and at great personal risk without the financial support of the 

major shareholders. The non-executive directors’ collective sacrifices 

and resilience have kept the Company alive. 

It is the combined proposal of the three non-executive directors that 

they be remunerated for the post creditors’ compromise period, 

until 31 August 2018. The first part of the proposal relates to the 

post-compromise period for which there is previous shareholder 

approval, as set out in Annexure B, but which was not recorded 

by the three non-executive directors in the preceding financial 

statement 31 August 2017. The second part of the proposal relates 

to the period thereafter, as set out in Annexure C. Approval is 

sought from shareholders for both proposed amounts.

With respect to the outstanding fees for which no shareholder 

approval had been obtained, and as scheduled in Annexure C, the 

non-executive directors propose a discount of 40% on the amount 

of directors’ fees calculated, subject to shareholders approval.

The balance to be paid as follows:

• 60% paid in cash 

• 40% paid in shares issued at the net asset value per share price 

on 31 August 2018

The report below is a proposal presented by the non-executive directors of the 
Company to its shareholders
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ANNEXURE A
Some of the more significant non-executive director interactions

Year Number of Board meetings attended

2014 7

2015 6

2016 6

2017 7

2018 3

2019 1 meeting so far

Informal meetings and discussions

2014

9 December Meeting with David Silva regarding turnaround strategy

2015

2 January Meeting Gasolar and M Cook

14 January P Cook contacted by Summit College regarding a bursary promised by C Chiloane. P Cook investigated and reported 
back that no such bursary was ever agreed to by the Company

22 January Meeting in Bedfordview with M Cook and W Sandawana re: Yellowbeek

26 January Meeting at attorneys’ offices Mathodzi and Yellowbeek

29 January Meeting P Du Preez, K van der Merwe and Maweza

5 February Meeting M Gous, Safika, R Stone and C Mulder from Incubex regarding fund raising

15 March Meeting M Cook, Maweza and Buffalo Coal

11 March Meeting Maweza, J Bristow, L Mohuba; discussion re Tango Coal offer

1 September L Mohuba, P Cook and others in discussion re: consolidation of KwaZulu Natal properties

3 September Meeting MERCC and discussion re: term sheet

10 September Meeting L Mohuba, J Bristow, M Cook re: Keaton Energy proposal; discussion re: K van der Merwe proposal

11 September Meeting MERCC on management issues

18 September Meeting MERCC, J Bristow, M Cook, Dr Bruinette re: fundraising

2 October Meeting MERCC, J Bristow and P Cook

5 October Meeting L Mohuba, M Gous, M Cook re: Keaton, Safika and Vaalkrantz

15 October Meeting at MERCC re: share issue

21 October Telephonic discussion with M Gous re: mechanism to issue shares and JSE regulations

12 November Meeting L Mohuba and others including L Lipshitz re: T Botoulas proposal

17 November Discussion L Mohuba and J Bristow re: presentation

19 November Meeting re: C Campbell proposal

23 November Meeting J Bristow, P Cook and MERCC

23 November Telephonic discussion with M Gous re: above and issue shares / JSE procedures

2016

15 January AGM

17 February Meeting MERCC with J Bristow

24 February Re-evaluation of assets with T Botoulas

2 June Meeting Guardrisk P Cook re: compromise and litigation

14 June Meeting L Mbangeni of Siyanda Resources re: investment and reverse listing

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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Proposals received and evaluated

2014

Garuda Finance

Desert Sands

EMS Mining – London

Muhanga Mines

Acrux Resources – introduced by J Wallington

David Silva – on behalf of a mining investment fund. Introduced by J Wallington

Valinger Resources – Mark Veitch

Dawnmin Resources

2015

T Botoulas and C Campbell

Koos van der Merwe on behalf of various parties

Ron Nel

Yellowbeek Mining

Landmark Plant Hire and Mineral Resources

H Bonsma re: Rozynenbosch

Umzobanzi Mining

Gasolar Energy

Offer on Turffontein from investors

TFC Africa

H Van Niekerk – Rietvlei Coal

MERCC

Keaton Energy

Vaalkrantz Colliery

Rajan Pillay and Sandile Zungu

Tango Mining

2016

Ron Nel 

Sesikhona offer

Ontario Mining

Minergy – N Boje

Anton Van Zyl and Vecto Petroleum

Afric Oil
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

ANNEXURE B
Calculation of proposed non-executive directors’ fees for period 1 April 2014 – 30 June 2015 

The proposed remuneration is calculated as follows:

Annual  
amount

Fee per  
Board meeting

R R

Chairman of the Board 250,000 20,000

Non-executive director 150,000 20,000

Fee calculation

1 April 2014 –  
31 March 2015

1 April 2015 –  
30 June 2015 Total

R R R

Dr L Mohuba 5÷12 x 250,000 + 3 x 20 000 3÷12 x 250,000 226,666

P Cook 5÷12 x 150,000 + 2 x 20,000 3÷12 x 150,000 140,000

D Joubert 5÷12 x 150,000 + 3 x 20,000 3÷12 x 150,000 160,000

J Bristow 5÷12 x 150,000 + 3 x 20,000 3÷12 x 150,000 160,000

Total 686,666

ANNEXURE C
Calculation of non-executive directors’ proposed remuneration for period 1 July 2015 – 31 August 2018 

No AGM approval for Board and Board sub-committee remuneration for non-executive directors for the financial years ending 31 August 2018 

was obtained. The conservative assumption is that fees would remain unchanged from the 2015 figures, as follows:

Annual  
amount

Fee per  
Board meeting

R R

Chairman of the Board 250,000 20,000

Non-executive director 150,000 20,000

Proposed remuneration calculation

1 July 2015 –  
31 August 2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 Total

R R R R R

Dr L Mohuba 2÷12 x 250,000 250,000 + 6 x 20,000 250,000 + 7 x 20,000 250 000 + 4 x 20,000 1,131,666

P Cook 2÷12 x 150,000 150,000 + 6 x 20,000 150,000 + 5 x 20,000 150,000 + 4 x 20,000 775,000

D Joubert 2÷12 x 150,000 150,000 + 5 x 20,000 150,000 + 7 x 20,000 150,000 + 4 x 20,000 795,000

J Bristow 2÷12 x 150,000 150,000 + 5 x 20,000 150,000 + 1 x 20,000 – 445,000

CONSOLIDATED PROPOSAL

1. Summary as per Annexure B – Part 1
(1 April 2014 to 30 June 2015) (fees to be paid in full in cash)

Figures in Rand

Dr L Mohuba 226,666

P Cook 140,000

D Joubert 160,000

J Bristow 160,000

Total 686,666
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2. Summary as per Annexure C – Part 2
Annexure C 

(before 40% 
discount)

(60% cash 
after 40% 
discount)

(40% in shares 
after 40% 
discount)

Total after 
discount

Figures in Rand R R R R

Dr L Mohuba 1,131,666  407,400  271,600  679,000

P Cook 775,000 279,000 186,000 465,000

D Joubert 795,000 286,200 190,800 477,000

J Bristow 445,000 160,200 106,800 267,000

Total 3,146,666 1,132,800 755,200 1,888,000

3. Summary of proposed remuneration to be presented to the shareholders for approval at the AGM
Refer to point 2 above

Annexure B

(60% cash
after 40%

discount)

(40% shares
after 40%

discount)

R R R

Dr L Mohuba 226,666 407,400 271,600

P Cook 140,000 279,000 186,000

D Joubert 160,000 286,200 190,800

J Bristow 160,000 160,200 106,800

Total 686,666 1,132,800 755,200

COMPANY SECRETARY AND ACCESS TO 
PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Limited remained 

company secretary during the period under review. 

The directors and company secretary are entitled to seek 

independent professional advice at the Company’s expense 

concerning the affairs of the Company. The directors have 

unfettered access to the company secretary.

The company secretary performs its duties in accordance with the 

Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and King Report and 

as such, provides the Board and directors individual guidance on the 

discharge of their responsibilities and on matters relating to ethics 

and good corporate governance.

The company secretary is principally responsible for ensuring 

compliance with the Companies Act and that the proceedings of 

the Board and its members, the various Board sub-committees, 

general meetings of shareholders and salient management 

proceedings are properly administered, and the maintenance of 

appropriate statutory and other records. Although the company 

secretary advised the Board of the breaches of the Companies 

Act, the King Report and the JSE Listings Requirements, the Board 

was unable to address any of the shortcomings during the period 
under review. 

The Board remains satisfied that the company secretary has 

the necessary competence, experience and expertise to fulfil 

its function. The Board further confirms that an arm’s length 

relationship exists between the Board and the company secretary. 

Although the company secretary’s interest in the Company 

increased through shareholding to approximately 1% of total issued 

share capital, this participation in the issued equity arose as a result 

of settling outstanding invoices pursuant to the implementation of 

the compromise with creditors. 

DEALING IN SECURITIES

The dealings in securities policy of the Company has been updated 

in line with the JSE Listings Requirements. There were no trades in 

securities for the period under review due to the trade in securities 

being suspended. 

The directors must obtain clearance to deal in Union Atlantic 

Minerals securities from the Chairman and the company secretary. 

In the case of the Chairman, clearance must be obtained from the 

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee, or alternatively, the 

majority of the other directors who serve on the Board.

Directors are to inform their associates of the requirement of 

disclosure on trading in securities in terms of the JSE Listings 

Requirements. Directors are further to inform their respective 

brokers of the Company’s closed and prohibited periods. 

The Group’s directors, executives, employees and the company 

secretary are prohibited from trading in Union Atlantic Minerals 

securities during any closed periods and at any time when any of 

the directors are aware of unpublished price-sensitive information 

and/or if clearance to deal has been denied.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDING

The analysis of the shareholding appears on page 29 of this report. 

No other classes of securities are listed on any other exchange.

DIRECTORS’ DISCLOSURES OF CONTRACTUAL 
INTERESTS

Directors of the Company are obliged, and at every Board 

meeting, are given the opportunity to disclose any material interest 

in contracts with the Company or its subsidiaries in terms of 

Section 75 of the Companies Act. Such disclosures are noted by 

the company secretary and kept in a separate register of directors’ 

disclosures. Where necessary during the period under review, 

disclosures were updated.

CODE OF ETHICS

The Board subscribes to the highest level of professionalism 

and integrity in conducting its business and dealing with all its 

stakeholders. The approved code of ethics is available on  

www.unionatlanticminerals.com. In adhering to its code of 

ethics, the Board is guided by the following broad principles:

• Businesses should operate and compete in accordance with the 

principles of free enterprise

• Free enterprise will be constrained by the observance of relevant 

legislation and generally accepted principles regarding ethical 

behaviour in business

• Ethical behaviour is predicated on the concept of utmost good 

faith and characterised by integrity, reliability and a commitment 

to avoid harm

• Business activities will benefit all participants through a fair 

exchange of value or satisfaction of need

• Equivalent standards of ethical behaviour are expected from 

individuals and companies with whom business is conducted

INTERNAL AUDIT

Due to the size of the current operations, no internal audit function 

is in place. The Board will continue to monitor the requirement 

for same.

CONTINUED GOING CONCERN

The directors believe that a material uncertainty exists which may 

cast significant doubt on the Group and Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, as it is dependent on the successful 

outcome of a number of future events. Therefore, the Group may 

be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 

normal course of business.

The most significant of these factors are:

• Raising an additional R30 million in capital, necessary for 

developing the Rozynenbosch prospecting right

• Uplifting the suspension of the Union Atlantic Minerals Limited 

shares on the JSE

• Funding continued operational expense requirements

CORPORATE REPORTING, STAKEHOLDER 
COMMUNICATION AND RELATIONSHIPS

The Company regularly provides information to stakeholders 

through SENS announcements and the Company website  

www.unionatlanticminerals.com.

Shareholders are invited and encouraged to attend the AGM(s) of 

the Company where voting is conducted by ballot.

SPONSORS

The sponsors of the Group, River Capital Partners, were appointed 

on 11 October 2017 and remained the sponsors of the Company 

for the period under review. 

TRANSFER SECRETARY

The transfer secretary of the Company is Link Market Services 

South Africa Proprietary Limited. Shareholders can direct their 

shareholding queries to Link Market Services South Africa 

Proprietary Limited, PO Box 4884, Johannesburg, 2000. 

Dr Lelau Mohuba
Chairman

4 July 2019
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ANALYSIS OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS 

2018 SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS

Company:  Union Atlantic Minerals Limited

Register date:  30 November 2018

Issued Share Capital: 1,288,086,443

Shareholder spread

No of shareholdings % No of shares %

1 – 1,000 shares 346 19.99 115,811 0.01

1,001 – 10,000 shares 474 27.38 2,569,340 0.20

10,001 – 100,000 shares 554 32.00 20,241,193 1.57

100,001 – 1,000,000 shares 256 14.79 93,780,137 7.28

1,000,001 – 10,000,000 78 4.51 290,701.598 22.57

10,000,001 shares and over 23 1.33 880,678,364 68.37

Totals 1,731 100 1,288,086,443 100

Distribution of shareholders

No of shareholdings % No of shares %

Banks/brokers 23 1.33 40,940,507 3.18

Close corporations 26 1.50 66,257,547 5.14

Empowerment 2 0.12 80,820,316 6.27

Individuals 1,530 88.39 579,927,048 45.02

Insurance companies 2 0.12 413,415 0.03

Mutual funds 1 0.06 800,000 0.06

Other corporations 34 1.96 133,255,327 10.35

Private companies 44 2.54 257,223,818 19.97

Public companies 6 0.35 103,625,120 8.04

Retirement funds 2 0.12 114,600 0.01

Trusts 61 3.52 24,708,745 1.92

Totals 1,731 100 1,288,086,443 100

Public/non-public shareholders

No of shareholdings % No of shares %

Non-public shareholders 5 0.29 70,156,267 5.45

Directors and associates 5 0.29 70,156,267 5.45

Public shareholders 1,726 99.71 1,217,930,176 94.55

Totals 1,731 100 1,288,086,443 100
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Beneficial shareholders holding 3% or more

No of shares %

JN Wallington 123,613,737 9.60

L Lipschitz (includes Relicove Investments Holdings cc) 110,126,790 8.55

Cross Company Management (Pty) Limited 92,000,000 7.14

Incubex Minerals Limited 80,820,316 6.27

Global PS Mining Investments Company Limited 76,220,636 5.92

Edward Nathan Sonnebergs Inc 61,670,661 4.79

Safika Resources (Pty) Limited 53,158,412 4.13

N Gutta 45,391,772 3.52

Totals 643,002,324 49.92

Breakdown of non-public holdings

Directors No of shares %

P Cook 19,054,097 1.48

P Cook 19,054,097 1.48

G Joubert 13,501,772 1.05

G Joubert 13,501,772 1.05

A Botha 26,768,752 2.08

Horticultura Kwekery 26,768,752 2.08

L Mohuba 10,831,646 0.84

L Mohuba 10,831,646 0.84

Totals 70,156,267 5.45

ANALYSIS OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS CONTINUED 
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the 

content and integrity of the consolidated and separate financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is 

their responsibility to ensure that the consolidated and separate financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group and 

Company as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with IFRS. 

The external auditor is engaged to express an independent opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements.

The consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and are based upon appropriate accounting 

policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Group 

and Company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these 

responsibilities, the Board of directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. 

The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and 

adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Group and all employees 

are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable 

circumstances, is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all 

known forms of risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring 

that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures 

and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control 

provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute assurance against material 

misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s and the Company’s cash flow forecast for the year ended 31 August 2018 and in light of this review 

and the current financial position, are satisfied that the Group has or has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence 

for the foreseeable future. Refer to Note 34.

The external auditor is responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Group’s consolidated and separate financial statements. 

The consolidated and separate financial statements have been examined by the Group’s external auditor and their report is presented on 

pages 34 to 38.

The consolidated and separate financial statements set out on pages 40 to 77, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were 

approved by the Board of directors on 4 July 2019 and were signed on their behalf by:

Dr Lelau Mohuba Peter Basil Cook
Chairman Director

4 July 2019 4 July 2019
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GROUP SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATION

DECLARATION BY THE GROUP SECRETARY IN RESPECT OF SECTION 88(2)(E) OF THE COMPANIES ACT

In terms of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act of 2008, as amended, I hereby certify and confirm that to the best of my knowledge and 

belief, Union Atlantic Minerals Limited has, in respect of the financial year ended 31 August 2018, lodged with the CIPC all returns and 

notices required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act in respect of the year under review and that all such notices are true, 

correct and up to date, save for the timeous release of the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2018.

Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Limited  
represented by M Gous 

Company secretary 

Centurion

4 July 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UNION ATLANTIC MINERALS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Union Atlantic Minerals Limited and its subsidiaries (the Group) and 

Company set out on pages 40 to 77, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 August 2018, 

and the consolidated and separate statements of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated and separate statements of 

changes in equity and the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated and 

separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 

financial position of the Group and Company as at 31 August 2018, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and 

consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 

requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are 

further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group and Company in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for 

Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory 

Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other 

independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements of the Group and Company and in South Africa. 
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical 

requirements applicable to performing audits of the Group and Company and in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the 

corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 

code) and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 

International Independence Standards) respectively. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion.  

Material uncertainty related to Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 34 of the financial statements, which indicates that the Group and Company recorded comprehensive (losses)/

profit, net of tax of (R7 479 876) and (R2 329 668) respectively during the year ended 31 August 2018 (2017: Group R32 301 681; 

Company (R69 494 203)). As of year-end, the Group and Company were in net current liability position of R8 507 605 and R8 370 997 

respectively (2017: net current liability Group R11 698 570 Company R11 709 669).

Furthermore, during September 2018, the DMR awarded the gold and silver prospecting rights to another party unrelated to Union Atlantic 

Minerals. As stated in Note 34, these events or conditions, along with other matters set forth in Note 33, indicate that material uncertainty 

exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in 

respect of this matter.

Ernst & Young Inc
102 Rivonia Road

Sandton 

2146 

Johannesburg
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Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated and 

separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and 

separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures 

designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements. The 

results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on 

the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements. 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Going concern assessment
As explained in Note 34, the consolidated and separate financial 

statements are prepared on a going concern basis, with material 

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability 

to continue as a going concern as it is dependent on the successful 

outcome of a number of factors. 

Management’s assessment of the going concern assumption was a 

significant aspect of our audit as management has made significant 

judgement by projecting future cash flows of the Group and 

working capital needs assuming the successful raising of additional 

capital to develop the Rozynenbosch prospecting right.

The exploration and development of the prospecting right is capital 

intensive and has no absolute guarantee of success. The raising of 

capital is a pre-requisite for the Group to maintain its going concern 

assumption. The Group may issue new shares or sell assets to obtain 

additional capital for the development of the prospecting right. The 

Group’s success in raising funds is also dependent on JSE lifting the 

suspension of the trade in Union Atlantic Minerals. 

Our procedures included, amongst others:

• Evaluating the assumptions and inputs applied by management 

in the budgets and forecasts related to the execution of the 

Rozynenbosch prospecting right. The assumptions included the 

possible outcome sale of assets and subsidiaries; the expected 

liabilities to be extinguished and revenue generating capacity 

expected from Rozynenbosch right should additional capital be 

obtained.

• Enquiring of those charged with governance as to their progress 

of obtaining any additional capital, and execution of the 

Rozynenbosch prospecting right.  

• Inspected the board minutes and SENS announcements to 

understand management’s future. 

• We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures with respect to the 

going concern assumption. 
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Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

B-BBEE transaction in respect of the Rozynenbosch 
prospecting right
In the current year, Miranda Community Mining Community Benefit 

Trust and Kwanda Minerals (Pty) Limited subscribed to the shares 

of Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited through a Broad-Based Black 

Economic (B-BBEE) transaction using vendor funding received from 

Union Atlantic Minerals.  

The transaction resulted in a share based payment arrangement 

in terms of of IFRS 2 – Share based payments, where an option to 

acquire shares has been offered to Kwanda Minerals (Pty) Limited 

and the Miranda Mining Community Trust. The valuation of options 

requires the use of complex valuation models such as the Black-

Scholes Option Pricing Models. Assumptions used in the model such 

as the “volatility” require estimation. 

In addition to this, the determination of whether Union Atlantic 

Minerals controls Miranda Community Mining Community Benefit 

Trust and Kwanda Minerals (Pty) Limited, and whether they should 

be consolidated required significant judgement. 

Refer to Note 14. 

Our procedures included, amongst others:

Valuation of the option:
With the assistance our internal valuation experts, we performed 

the following procedures: 

• Assessed pricing model methodologies against industry practice 

and valuation guidelines.

• We compared assumptions used against appropriate 

benchmarks and pricing sources, investigated significant 

differences and performed our own independent valuation.

Determination of control: 

• We inspected the B-BBEE Transaction agreements; the deeds 

of cession and pledge and Memorandum of Association of 

Kwanda and the Trust deed for any indication of control by 

Union Atlantic Minerals.

• We enquired from those charged with governance and Union 

Atlantic Minerals’ lawyers as to the structure, the terms and the 

intention of B-BBEE transaction.

• We inspected Kwanda company registration documents for any 

indication of a connection with Union Atlantic Minerals.

• We involved our internal accounting technical specialists in 

assessing the transaction for any control and whether the 

transaction is to be accounted for as a share based payment 

transaction.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures for these matters. 

Non-Executive Directors Remuneration
As explained in Note 31, the non-executive directors of Union 

Atlantic Minerals have prepared a proposal to the shareholders 

of Union Atlantic Minerals to consider approving payment for 

remuneration for past services performed.

The proposal by the non-executive directors to be remunerated 

for past services was considered significant to our audit, as the 

determination of whether an accrual for the proposed remuneration 

should be recognised required significant judgement by 

management, as no formal agreement to remunerate non-executive 

directors was in place, and no board resolutions approving the 

remuneration have been passed yet.

Our procedures included, amongst others:

• We obtained an understanding of the proposal to remunerate 

non-executive directors, including its calculations through 

management enquiries and by reviewing the Corporate 

Governance report.

• We enquired of those charged with governance as to the 

reasons for no accrual being raised. 

• We involved our internal legal specialists and our internal 

accounting technical specialists in assessing the facts of the 

proposal and the results of our enquiries, to determine whether 

an accrual should be raised.

• We inspected Union Atlantic Minerals’ Memorandum of 

Association for any indication of special terms regarding 

approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration.

• We inspected minutes of Board and shareholder meetings 

for the proposed remuneration and approval thereof by the 

shareholders.

• We inspected Board resolutions for the non-executive 

directors’ consent to perform their duties with the knowledge 

that payment of remuneration is dependent on shareholder 

approval.

• We reviewed the related disclosures in the notes to the financial 

statements, to assess the adequacy thereof.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CONTINUED
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Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Valuation of Rozynenbosch prospecting right
As explained in Note 33, management has valued the Rozynenbosch 

prospecting right including the silver prospecting right as per the 

competent persons report published in 2018 despite the silver right 

being awarded to an unknown third party after year-end.

The valuation of the Rozynenbosch prospecting right was considered 

significant to our audit, as the determination of whether the silver 

prospecting right should be considered in the valuation of the asset 

required significant judgement because the prospecting right had 

been awarded to a third party after year-end.

Our procedures included, amongst others:

• We obtained an understanding of the basis of including 

the silver right in the prospecting right valuation, through 

management enquiries and by reviewing the Corporate 

Governance report and the Competent Persons Report.

• We obtained and assessed the accuracy of management’s 

historical documents supporting the inclusion of the silver right 

in the valuation of Rozynenbosch prospecting right.

• We analysed the responses obtained from the Company’s legal 

advisors, in which their status and possible expected manner of 

proceeding regarding the appeal to the DMR were described.

• We involved our internal accounting technical specialists in 

assessing the facts of the inclusion of silver in the valuation of 

Rozynenbosch prospecting right and the results of our enquiries, 

to determine whether the valuation should include or exclude 

the silver prospecting rights and to determine if disclosures in 

the notes to the financial statements are adequate.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 90-page document 

titled “Union Atlantic Minerals Integrated Annual Report 2018”, which includes the Corporate Profile, Chairman and CEO review, Financial 

Directors’ Report, Managing our Risks, Board of Directors, Company Structure, Operational Review, Corporate Governance, Shareholder 

Information and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does not 

include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit 

opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 

that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

At the date of this report, we have not received any additional other information, which we anticipate will include but may not be limited to, 

a Circular document. When we receive and read the other information, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 

required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control 

as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and Company’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate 

financial statements. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements continued

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group and Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 

the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence 

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group and 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 

our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the Group and/or Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group 

to express an opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 

to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 

applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 

in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that Ernst & Young Inc. has 

been the auditor of Union Atlantic Minerals Limited for 3 years.

Ernst & Young Inc.
Director: Dawid Petrus Venter

Registered Auditor

Chartered Accountant (SA)

4 July 2019

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
CONTINUED
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

THE DIRECTORS SUBMIT THEIR REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018
1. Going concern

We draw attention to the fact that at 31 August 2018, the Company had accumulated losses of (R178,720,824) and that the Company’s 

total assets exceed its liabilities by R30,865,601.

Refer to Note 34 to the financial statements for further disclosure regarding going concern.

2. Significant events after 31 August 2018 – till sign-off date

Refer to Note 33 to the financial statements for disclosure regarding subsequent events.

3. Authorised and issued share capital

Refer to Note 13 to the financial statements for disclosure regarding changes in the issued share capital.

4. Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Name Nationality Changes

Dr Lelau Mohuba South African

Peter Basil Cook South African

Gideon Joubert South African

Theo Botoulas South African

Adriaan Botha South African Appointed 1 March 2018

5. Secretary

The secretary of the Company is Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Limited represented by M Gous of:

PO Box 68528

Highveld

Centurion

0169

6. Auditor

Ernst & Young Inc will continue in office in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

7. Liquidity and solvency

The directors have performed the required liquidity and solvency tests required by the Companies Act 71 of 2008. Refer to Note 32.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2018

GROUP COMPANY

Note(s) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 5 39,000,000 39,000,000 – –

Investments in subsidiaries 6 – – 32,116,231 615,731

Loans to Group companies 8 – – 3,462,865 34,960,865

Other financial assets 9 1,157,502 1,328,342 1,157,502 1,328,342

40,157,502 40,328,342 36,736,598 36,904,938

Current assets

Other financial assets 9 105,006 105,006 105,006 105,006

Trade and other receivables 10 1,010,894 649,722 1,010,682 637,261

Cash and cash equivalents 11 3,334,986 352,784 3,334,986 352,784

4,450,886 1,107,512 4,450,674 1,095,051

Non-current assets held for sale and assets of disposal groups 7, 12 2,500,000 7,276,197 2,500,000 8,000,000

Total assets 47,108,388 48,712,051 43,687,272 45,999,989

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Equity attributable to equity holders of parent

Share capital 13 209,586,425 209,586,425 209,586,425 209,586,425

Reserves – 1,794,939 – 1,794,939

Accumulated loss (175,298,270) (169,613,333) (178,720,824) (178,186,095)

34,288,155 41,768,031 30,865,601 33,195,269

Non-controlling interest (138,258) (9,212,820) – –

34,149,827 32,555,211 30,865,601 33,195,269

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Loans from shareholders 15 – 151,146 – 151,146

Other financial liabilities 16 1,469,553 1,670,460 1,469,553 1,670,460

Trade and other payables 17 11,488,938 10,983,883 11,352,118 10,983,114

Bank overdraft 11 – 593 – –

12,958,491 12,806,082 12,821,671 12,804,720

Liabilities of disposal groups 12 – 3,350,758 – –

Total liabilities 12,958,491 16,156,840 12,821,671 12,804,720

Total equity and liabilities 47,108,388 48,712,051 43,687,272 45,999,989

Ratios

Per share information

Net asset value per share (c) 24 2.66 3.24

Net tangible asset value per share (c) 24 (0.36) 0.21
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

GROUP COMPANY

Note(s) 2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

Operating expenses (7,556,993) (8,911,921) (7,409,102) (8,872,101)

Operating loss 18 (7,556,993) (8,911,921) (7,409,102) (8,872,101)

Investment income 16,598 18,477 16,598 18,477

Impairment loan to subsidiaries reversed/(recognised) – – 5,034,500 (59,619,219)

Reversal of impairment on mining right 20 – 42,293,968 – –

Fair value adjustments 19 30,067 – 30,067 –

Gain on non-current assets held for sale or disposal groups 12 34,473 – – –

Finance costs 21 (1,731) – (1,731) –

(Loss)/profit before taxation (7,477,586) 33,400,524 (2,329,668) (68,472,843)

Taxation 22 – – – –

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations (7,477,586) 33,400,524 (2,329,668) (68,472,843)

Discontinued operations

Loss from discontinued operations 12 (2,290) (1,098,843) – (1,021,360)

(Loss)/profit for the year (7,479,876) 32,301,681 (2,329,668) (69,494,203)

Other comprehensive income – – – –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (7,479,876) 32,301,681 (2,329,668) (69,494,203)

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent

(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations (7,477,586) 33,400,524 (2,329,668) (68,472,843)

Loss for the year from discontinuing operations (2,290) (1,076,334) – (1,021,360)

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent (7,479,876) 32,324,190 (2,329,668) (69,494,203)

Non-controlling interest:

Loss for the year from discontinuing operations – (22,509) – –

Earnings per share

Per share information

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (c) 24 (0.58) 4.07 – –

Headline and diluted headline loss per share (c) 24 (0.58) (1.26) – –

From continuing operations

Per share information

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (c) 24 (0.58) 4.21 – –

Headline and diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share (c) 24 (0.58) (1.12) – –

From discontinued operations

Per share information

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (c) 24 – (0.14) – –

Headline and diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share (c) 24 – (0.14) – –
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Figures in Rand
Share  

capital

Share-based 
payment 

reserve
Accumulated 

loss

Total 
attributable to 
equity holders 
of the Group/

Company

Non- 
controlling 

interest
Total  

equity

GROUP

Balance at 1 September 2016 186,797,593 1,909,382 (202,051,966) (13,344,991) (9,190,311) (22,535,302)

Profit for the year – – 32,324,190 32,324,190 (22,509) 32,301,681

Other comprehensive income – – – – – –

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – 32,324,190 32,324,190 (22,509) 32,301,681

Issue of shares 22,788,832 – – 22,788,832 – 22,788,832

Options lapsed – (114,443) 114,443 – – –

Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners of Company recognised 
directly in equity 22,788,832 (114,443) 114,443 22,788,832 – 22,788,832

Balance at 1 September 2017 209,586,425 1,794,939 (169,613,333) 41,768,031 (9,212,820) 32,555,211

Loss for the year – – (7,479,876) (7,479,876) – (7,479,876)

Other comprehensive income – – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (7,479,876) (7,479,876) – (7,479,876)

Options lapsed – (1,794,939) 1,794,939 – – –

Disposal of subsidiaries (Miranda Coal and 

Sesikhona) – refer to Note 12 – – – – 9,074,562 9,074,562

Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners of Company recognised 
directly in equity – (1,794,939) 1,794,939 – – –

Balance at 31 August 2018 209,586,425 – (175,298,270) 34,288,155 (138,258) 34,149,897

Note 13

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018
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Figures in Rand
Share  

capital

Share-based 
payment 

reserve
Accumulated 

loss

Total 
attributable to 
equity holders 
of the Group/

Company

Non- 
controlling 

interest
Total  

equity

COMPANY

Balance at 1 September 2016 186,797,593 1,909,382 (108,806,335) 79,900,640 – 79,900,640

Loss for the year – – (69,494,203) (69,494,203) – (69,494,203)

Other comprehensive income – – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (69,494,203) (69,494,203) – (69,494,203)

Issue of shares 22,788,832 – – 22,788,832 – 22,788,832

Options lapsed – (114,443) 114,443 – – –

Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners of Company recognised 
directly in equity 22,788,832 (114,443) 114,443 22,788,832 – 22,788,832

Balance at 1 September 2017 209,586,425 1,794,939 (178,186,095) 33,195,269 – 33,195,269

Loss for the year – – (2,329,668) (2,329,668) – (2,329,668)

Other comprehensive income – – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (2,329,668) (2,329,668) – (2,329,668)

Options lapsed – (1,794,939) 1,794,939 – – –

Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners of Company recognised 
directly in equity – (1,794,939) 1,794,939 – – –

Balance at 31 August 2018 209,586,425 – (178,720,824) 30,865,601 – 30,865,601

Note 13
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

GROUP COMPANY

Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash used in operations 25 (7,564,256) (600,602) (7,564,663) (558,087)

Interest income 16,599 18,477 16,599 18,477

Finance costs (1,731) – (1,731) –

Cash flows of held for sale/discontinued operations 27 (2,290) (1,544) – –

Net cash from operating activities (7,551,678) (583,669) (7,549,795) (539,610)

Cash flows from investing activities

Loans to Group companies repaid – – 32,000 –

Investment in restricted cash – (14,870) – (14,870)

Proceeds on disposal of discontinued operations 12 10,500,000 – 10,500,000 –

Cash flows of held for sale/discontinued operations 34,915 – – –

Net cash from investing activities 10,534,916 (14,870) 10,500,000 (14,870)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from other financial liabilities – 546,865 – 506,865

Cash flows of held for sale/discontinued operations (442) – – –

Net cash from financing activities (442) 546,865 – 506,865

Total cash movement for the year 2,982,795 (51,674) 2,982,205 (47,615)

Cash at the beginning of the year 35,192 88,105 35,785 49,724

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 316,999 350,675 316,999 350,675

Cash disclosed as part of disposal group – (34,915) – –

Total cash at end of the year 11 3,334,986 352,191 3,334,989 352,784
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

1. PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group and Company audited annual results for the year ended 31 August 2018 have been prepared in accordance with the 

Group’s accounting policies which comply with IFRS, the South Africa Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) Financial Reporting 

Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa and the JSE Listings 

Requirements, on the historic cost basis except in the case of financial instruments which are measured using the fair value and 

amortised cost models. The annual financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. All monetary information is presented 

in the functional currency of the Company being South African rand. The Group’s principal accounting policies and assumptions have 

been applied consistently over the current and prior year.

 1.1 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the amounts represented in the consolidated and separate financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information 

and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates 

which may be material to the consolidated and separate financial statements. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 

on an on-going basis. Significant judgements include:

Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted 

market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid 

price as outlined in Note 9.

Measurement of intangible asset
The valuation of the intangible asset by the competent person encompasses using the US dollar, the currency which minerals are quoted 

in. The ZAR to USD exchange rate did not fluctuate significantly from valuation date as compared to year-end.

Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units (CGU) and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use  

calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible 

that the assumption may change which may then impact our estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying 

value of goodwill, intangible assets and tangible assets.

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. In addition, the Group tests intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment annually. Assets are grouped at the 

lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications 

that impairment may have occurred, estimates of expected future cash flows for each Group of assets are prepared. Expected future 

cash flows used to determine the value in use of tangible and intangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change 

over time. They are significantly affected by a number of factors including commodity prices and currency fluctuations, together with 

economic factors such as inflation and interest rates.

Taxation
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are many transactions 

and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. During the ordinary course of business, management assesses 

each matter individually and where necessary, consults on the matter.

Rehabilitation expenditure is largely expected to take place at the end of the respective mine lives, which vary from three to four years.

Going concern
The financial statements set out in this report are the responsibility of the Company’s directors. They have been prepared by the directors 

on the basis of appropriate accounting policies which have been consistently applied. The financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with IFRS and on the basis of accounting policies applicable to going concern. The IFRS was considered most appropriate 

as the Group and Company do not intend on liquidating or ceasing to trade. The directors believe that a material uncertainty exists 

regarding the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, as it is dependent on the successful outcome of a number of factors. 
The most significant of these are:

•  Raising an additional R30 million in capital, necessary for developing the Rozynenbosch prospecting right

• Uplifting the suspension of the Miranda Mineral Holdings Limited shares on the JSE

• Funding continued operational expense requirements
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1. PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

 1.2 Consolidation

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated and separate financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year 

ended 31 August 2018. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the 

investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

• Power over the investee (existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and when the Group has 

less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing 

whether it has power over an investee, including:

• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of 

the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 

the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year 

are included in the consolidated and separate financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases 

to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and 

to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments 

are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are 

eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group loses 

control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components 

of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment.

The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:

•  The fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the 

Company plus

• Any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary

An adjustment to the cost of a business combination contingent on future events is included in the cost of the combination if the 

adjustment is probable and can be measured reliably.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018
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 1.3 Investments in associates

Group financial statements
An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence through participation in the financial and 

operating policy decisions of the entity, but which it does not control.

The results of associates are incorporated in the consolidated and separate financial statements using the equity method of accounting, 

from the date that significant influence starts until the date that significant influence ends, except when the investment is classified as 

held for sale, in which case it is accounted for under IFRS 5: Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations. Under the 

equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s 

share of the profits or losses of the investee after acquisition date.

Company financial statements
An investment in an associate is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment.

 1.4 Intangible assets

Mineral rights
Mineral rights are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

Mineral rights acquired as part of a business combination are recognised as assets at their fair value, as determined by the requirements 

of IFRS 3: Business combinations. Mineral rights acquired subsequent to a business combination are accounted for in accordance with 

the policy outlined above.

Amortisation is charged using the units-of-production method as soon as the production starts, with separate calculations being made 

for each area of interest. The units-of-production basis results in an amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of proved and 

probable mineral reserves.

The carrying amounts of mineral rights are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 

If there is an indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is determined and the carrying amount is adjusted 

accordingly.

Capital work-in-progress
Capital work-in-progress incurred by or on behalf of the Group is accumulated separately for each area of interest in which economically 

recoverable mineral resources have been identified. Capital work-in-progress comprises cost directly attributable to the construction 

of a mine and the related infrastructure. Once a development decision has been taken, the carrying amount of the exploration and 

evaluation expenditure in respect of the area of interest is aggregated with the capital work-in-progress and classified under intangible 

assets as capital work-in-progress. Further capital work-in-progress incurred is either classified under intangible assets or property, plant 

and equipment depending on the nature of the expenditure. Capital work-in-progress is reclassified as a mining property at the end of 

the commissioning phase, when the mine is capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

No amortisation is recognised in respect of capital work-in-progress until they are reclassified as mining properties. Capital work-in-progress 

is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy in Note 1.11.

 1.5 Mining properties

When further expenditure is incurred in respect of a mining property after the commencement of production, such expenditure is carried 

forward as part of the mining property when it is probable that additional future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will 

flow to the consolidated entity. Otherwise such expenditure is classified as a cost of production and is recognised in operating expenses 

in profit or loss.

Mining properties are classified under property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is charged using the units-of-production method, with separate calculations being made for each area of interest. 

The units-of-production basis results in a depreciation charge proportional to the depletion of proved and probable mineral reserves. 

Mine properties are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy in Note 1.11.

The useful life and residual value of the mining properties are reassessed at the reporting date.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

1. PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

 1.6 Financial instruments

Classification
The Group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – designated

• Loans and receivables

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained or incurred and takes place at initial 

recognition. Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at fair value through 

profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an 

equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of 

the instrument.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Regular way purchases of financial assets are accounted for at trade date.

Subsequent measurement
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value, with gains and losses arising from 

changes in fair value being included in profit or loss for the period.

Net gains or losses on the financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss exclude dividends and interest.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated 

impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and 

the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Fair value determination
The Group measures the environmental insurance policy, at fair value at each balance sheet date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 

transfer the liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 

liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation provided by the insurer of the environmental insurance policy.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value 

hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

•  Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly 

observable

• Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 

transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant 

to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the nature, characteristics and risks 

of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as explained above.

Fair-value related disclosures for financial instruments that are measured at fair value or where fair values are disclosed, are summarised 

in the following notes:

• Environmental insurance policy notes

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is 

impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that have occurred since the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred loss event), 

has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, 

default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation 

and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or 

economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 

individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective 

evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of 

financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed 

for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of 

impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the 

estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (EIR).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss. Interest income (recorded as finance income in the statement of profit or loss) continues to be accrued on the reduced 

carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. 

Loans, together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has 

been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or 

decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased 
or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to finance costs in the statement 

of profit or loss.

Loans to (from) Group companies
These include loans to and from holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and are recognised 

initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

Loans to Group companies are classified as loans and receivables.

Loans from Group companies are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR 

method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence 

that the asset is impaired.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

1. PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

 1.6 Financial instruments continued

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the 

profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for 

trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses in the statement of 

comprehensive income.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the EIR method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and short-term negotiable securities, all of which are available for use by the Group, 

unless otherwise stated.

Loans from shareholders
Loans from shareholders are recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs. These are classified as financial liabilities 

measured at amortised cost.

 1.7 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities
Tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and 

prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities/(assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/(recovered from) the 

tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred taxation is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences between the carrying amounts for financial 

reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, except for differences which do not affect accounting profit or loss, 

taxable profit or loss arising on a transaction other than a business combination, or arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates to the 

extent that it is probable that:

• The temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and

• Taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the 

liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent 

that the tax arises from:

• A transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income, or

• A business combination

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or 

charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the 

same or a different period, directly in equity.
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 1.8 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as 

an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the 

amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability. This liability is 

not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

 1.9 Non-current assets held for sale (and) (disposal groups)

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 

rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal 

group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to 

qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets held for sale (or disposal group) are measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

A non-current asset is not depreciated (or amortised) while it is classified as held for sale, or while it is part of a disposal group classified 

as held for sale.

Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are recognised in profit or loss.

 1.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 

indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group also:

•  Tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing 

its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed during the annual period and at the same time 

every period

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not 

possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs is 

determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 

amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets 

may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in 

profit or loss.

 1.11 Commitments and contingencies

Items are classified as commitments where the Group commits itself contractually to future transactions. Contingencies are disclosed 

where the obligations depend on uncertain future events.



Union Atlantic MineralsPAGE 52

ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

1. PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

 1.12 Share-based payments

Goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction are recognised when the goods or as the services are 

received. A corresponding increase in equity is recognised if the goods or services were received in an equity-settled share-based 

payment transaction or a liability, if the goods or services were acquired in a cash-settled share-based payment transaction.

When the goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction do not qualify for recognition as assets, they are 

recognised as expenses.

For equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the goods or services received and the corresponding increase in equity are 

measured directly at the fair value of the goods or services received provided that the fair value can be estimated reliably.

If the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be estimated reliably, or if the services received are employee services, their 

value and the corresponding increase in equity, are measured indirectly, by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted.

Vesting conditions which are not market related (service conditions and non-market related performance conditions) are not taken into 

consideration when determining the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Instead, vesting conditions which are not market 

related shall be taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments included in the measurement of the transaction 

amount so that, ultimately, the amount recognised for goods or services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted 

shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. Market conditions, such as a target share price, are taken into 

account when estimating the fair value of the equity instruments granted. The number of equity instruments are not adjusted to reflect 

equity instruments which are not expected to vest or do not vest because the market condition is not achieved.

If the share-based payments granted do not vest until the counterparty completes a specified period of service, Group accounts for those 

services as they are rendered by the counterparty during the vesting period, (or on a straight line basis over the vesting period).

If the share-based payments vest immediately, the services received are recognised in full.

 1.13 Related parties – Group companies

All the intergroup transactions are conducted at arm’s length between the Company and its subsidiaries.

 1.14 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

 1.15 Segment reporting

The Group discloses its operating segments according to the entity components regularly reviewed by the Executive Committee. 

The components comprise of exploration divisions in the various key product lines, which are coal, diamonds, gold, base metals and 

industrial minerals and other representing Group services.

Segment information is prepared in conformity with the measure that is reported to the Executive Committee. These values have 

been reconciled to the consolidated and separate financial statements. The measure reported by the Group is in accordance with the 

accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the consolidated and separate financial statements.

Segment operating expenses comprise all operating expenses of the different reportable segments and are either directly attributable to 

the reportable segment, or can be allocated to the reportable segment on a reasonable basis.

The segment assets and liabilities comprise all assets and liabilities of the different segments that are employed by the reportable 

segments and are either directly attributable to the reportable segments, or can be allocated to the reportable segment on a 

reasonable basis.

 1.16 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation leave and 

sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and 

are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their entitlement 

or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation to 

make such payments as a result of past performance. 
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
 2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year 

and that are relevant to its operations:

Amendments to IFRS 12: Annual improvements to IFRS 2014 – 2016 cycle
The amendment to IFRS 12: Disclosures of interests in other entities now provides that if an investment in a subsidiary, associate or joint 

venture is part of a disposal group that is held for sale, then the disclosure of summary information as per paragraph B10 – B16 of IFRS 12 

is not required. IFRS 12 previously only made the exemption for circumstances where the investment itself was classified as held for sale.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2018 consolidated and separate financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material as the Group does not have material investments in the subsidiary, associate or joint 

venture that is part of a disposal group that is held for sale.

 2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for 

the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 September 2018 or later periods:

IFRS 16: Leases
IFRS 16: Leases is a new standard which replaces IAS 17: Leases, and introduces a single lessee accounting model. The main changes 

arising from the issue of IFRS 16 which are likely to impact the Group are as follows:

Group as lessee:

•  Lessees are required to recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases, except short-term leases or leases where the 

underlying asset has a low value, which are expensed on a straight line or other systematic basis

•  The cost of the right-of-use asset includes, where appropriate, the initial amount of the lease liability, lease payments made prior to 

commencement of the lease less incentives received, initial direct costs of the lessee and an estimate for any provision for dismantling, 

restoration and removal related to the underlying asset

•  The lease liability takes into consideration, where appropriate, fixed and variable lease payments, residual value guarantees to be 

made by the lessee, exercise price of purchase options and payments of penalties for terminating the lease

•  The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured on the cost model at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment and 

adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability. However, right-of-use assets are measured at fair value when they meet the 

definition of investment property and all other investment property is accounted for on the fair value model. If a right-of-use asset 

relates to a class of property, plant and equipment which is measured on the revaluation model, then that right-of-use asset may be 

measured on the revaluation model

•  The lease liability is subsequently increased by interest, reduced by lease payments and re measured for reassessments or modifications

•  Re-measurements of lease liabilities are affected against right-of-use assets, unless the assets have been reduced to nil, in which case 

further adjustments are recognised in profit or loss

•  The lease liability is re-measured by discounting revised payments at a revised rate when there is a change in the lease term or a 

change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset

•  The lease liability is re-measured by discounting revised lease payments at the original discount rate when there is a change in the 

amounts expected to be paid in a residual value guarantee or when there is a change in future payments because of a change in 

index or rate used to determine those payments

•  Certain lease modifications are accounted for as separate leases. When lease modifications which decrease the scope of the lease 

are not required to be accounted for as separate leases, then the lessee re-measures the lease liability by decreasing the carrying 

amount of the right-of-lease asset to reflect the full or partial termination of the lease. Any gain or loss relating to the full or partial 

termination of the lease is recognised in profit or loss. For all other lease modifications which are not required to be accounted for as 

separate leases, the lessee re-measures the lease liability by making a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset

•  Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities should be presented separately from other assets and liabilities. If not, then the line item in 

which they are included must be disclosed. This does not apply to right-of-use assets meeting the definition of investment property 

which must be presented within investment property. IFRS 16 contains different disclosure requirements compared to IAS 17: leases
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS continued

 2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective continued

Group as lessor:

•  Accounting for leases by lessors remains similar to the provisions of IAS 17 in that leases are classified as either finance leases or 

operating leases. Lease classification is reassessed only if there has been a modification

•  A modification is required to be accounted for as a separate lease if it both increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use 

one or more underlying assets and the increase in consideration is commensurate to the stand alone price of the increase in scope

•  If a finance lease is modified and the modification would not qualify as a separate lease, but the lease would have been an operating 

lease if the modification was in effect from inception, then the modification is accounted for as a separate lease. In addition, the 

carrying amount of the underlying asset shall be measured as the net investment in the lease immediately before the effective date of 

the modification. IFRS 9 is applied to all other modifications not required to be treated as a separate lease

•  Modifications to operating leases are required to be accounted for as new leases from the effective date of the modification. Changes 

have also been made to the disclosure requirements of leases in the lessor’s financial statements

Sale and leaseback transactions:

•  In the event of a sale and leaseback transaction, the requirements of IFRS 15 are applied to consider whether a performance 

obligation is satisfied to determine whether the transfer of the asset is accounted for as the sale of an asset

•  If the transfer meets the requirements to be recognised as a sale, the seller-lessee must measure the new right-of-use asset at the 

proportion of the previous carrying amount of the asset that relates to the right-of-use retained. The buyer-lessor accounts for the 

purchase by applying applicable standards and for the lease by applying IFRS 16

•  If the fair value of consideration for the sale is not equal to the fair value of the asset, then IFRS 16 requires adjustments to be 

made to the sale proceeds. When the transfer of the asset is not a sale, then the seller-lessee continues to recognise the transferred 

asset and recognises a financial liability equal to the transfer proceeds. The buyer-lessor recognises a financial asset equal to the 

transfer proceeds

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The Group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2020 consolidated and separate financial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurements of financial assets. IFRS 9 was 

subsequently amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for 

derecognition, and then in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised version of 

IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include:

(a) impairment requirements for financial assets and 

(b) limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other comprehensive 

income’ (FVTOCI) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments

Key requirements of IFRS 9:

•  All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement are required 

to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model 

whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the outstanding principal are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent reporting periods. 

Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 

selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on outstanding principal, are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity investments 

are measured at fair value at the end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable 

election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive 

income with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments continued

•  With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the 

amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability is presented 

in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effect of the changes of the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive 

income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in fair value 

of a financial liability designated as at fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss

•  In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit 

loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in 

those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. It is therefore no longer 

necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised

•  The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available in 

IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically 

broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-financial items 

that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has been replaced with the principal of an ‘economic 

relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an 

entity’s risk management activities have also been introduced

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2019 consolidated and separate financial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated and separate financial statements.

IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers
IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11: Construction contracts; IAS 18: Revenue, IFRIC 13: Customer loyalty programmes, IFRIC 15: Agreements 
for the construction of real estate, IFRIC 18: Transfers of assets from customers and SIC 31: Revenue barter transactions involving 
advertising services.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in 

an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity 

recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:

•  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

•  Identify the performance obligations in the contract

•  Determine the transaction price

•  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

•  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

IFRS 15 also includes extensive new disclosure requirements.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Group expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2019 consolidated and separate financial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated and separate financial statements. The Group 

does not generate revenue of this stage and we do not anticipate generating revenue within the next 12 months.
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3. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

GROUP

2018
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value 
through profit  

or loss – 
designated

Non-financial 
instruments Total

Other financial assets 105,006 1,157,502 – 1,262,508

Trade and other receivables 218 – 1,010,676 1,010,894

Cash and cash equivalents 3,334,986 – – 3,334,986

3,440,210 1,157,502 1,010,676 5,608,388

GROUP

2017
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value 
through profit  

or loss – 
designated

Non-financial 
instruments Total

Other financial assets 105,006 1,328,342 – 1,433,348

Trade and other receivables 226 – 649,496 649,722

Cash and cash equivalents 352,784 – – 352,784

458,016 1,328,342 649,496 2,435,854

COMPANY

2018
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value 
through profit  

or loss – 
designated

Non-financial 
instruments Total

Loans to Group companies 3,462,865 – – 3,462,865

Other financial assets 105,006 1,157,502 – 1,262,508

Trade and other receivables 218 – 1,010,676 1,010,894

Cash and cash equivalents 3,334,986 – – 3,334,986

6,903,075 1,157,502 1,010,676 9,071,253

COMPANY

2017
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value 
through profit or 
loss – designated

Non-financial 
instruments Total

Loans to Group companies 34,960,865 – – 34,960,865

Other financial assets 105,006 1,328,342 – 1,433,348

Trade and other receivables – – 637,261 637,261

Cash and cash equivalents 352,784 – – 352,784

35,418,655 1,328,342 637,261 37,384,258



PAGE 57Integrated Report and Annual Financial Statements 2018

4. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

GROUP

2018 2017

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Loans from shareholders 151,146 151,146

Other financial liabilities 1,469,553 1,469,553 1,670,460 1,670,460

Trade and other payables 11,488,938 11,488,938 10,983,883 10,983,883

Bank overdraft – – 593 593

12,958,491 12,958,491 12,806,082 12,806,082

COMPANY

2018 2017

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Loans from shareholders – – 151,146 151,146

Other financial liabilities 1,469,553 1,469,553 1,670,460 1,670,460

Trade and other payables 11,352,118 11,352,118 10,983,114 10,983,114

12,821,671 12,821,671 12,804,720 12,804,720

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GROUP

2018 2017

Cost/ 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation  

and impairment
Carrying  

value
Cost/ 

Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and impairment
Carrying  

value

Mineral rights 307,791,749 (268,791,749) 39,000,000 307,791,749 (268,791,749) 39,000,000

Reconciliation of intangible assets

GROUP

2018 Opening balance Total

Mineral rights 39,000,000 39,000,000

Reconciliation of intangible assets

GROUP

2017 Opening balance
Classified as  
held for sale

Impairment 
reversal Total

Mineral rights – (3,293,968) 42,293,968 39,000,000

Capital work-in-progress 3,919,720 (3,919,720) – –

3,919,720 (7,213,688) 42,293,968 39,000,000
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued

Rozynenbosch prospecting right

The directors have considered the reversal of the impairment with reference to the recoverable amount of the asset in terms of IAS 36.

During the 2018 and 2017 financial years, the Board assessed all the assets of the Company and believe that the value of this specific 

prospecting right will realise by the future developing thereof. The original impairment was caused by the fact that the Company 

changed its intent of further developing the asset and therefore the Company is now in the position of reversing any of the past 

impairments, if justified.

As part of assessing if any impairment reversal was justified, Minxcon (Pty) Limited was commissioned by Union Atlantic Minerals to 

complete a compliant Independent Competent Person’s Mineral Resource Report with a full mineral asset valuation on the Rozynenbosch 

Project, located in the Northern Cape province, South Africa.

The purpose of the valuation is to comply with the JSE Section 12 disclosure requirements for mineral companies. The report was 

compiled in compliance with the South African Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, mineral resources and mineral reserves (2016 

Edition) (or SAMREC Code), and in terms of the specifications embodied in the Standards of the South African Code for the Reporting of 

Mineral Asset Valuation (2016 Edition) (or SAMVAL Code).

All requirements of the JSE Section 12.9 Listing Requirements and the SAMREC Code (including Table 1) and SAMVAL Code have been 

complied with. The report is effective from 31 January 2018.

The market and cost approaches were applied. The effective shareholding of Union Atlantic Minerals in the project is currently 100% 

and the valuation therefore represents the full mineral asset value.

Primary valuation

The market comparable approach was the primary valuation method used to determine the value of the asset and was applied on the 

total zinc resources (including the zn equivalent) and exploration target. The project has a compliant mineral resource that was available 

for use in the valuation.

A range of values was calculated for the comparative valuation by determining an upper and lower range for the total zinc equivalent 

resource and exploration target, as displayed below. This was done for the lower exploration estimate and higher exploration estimate, 

respectively.

The following ranges were established:

• Lower exploration estimate: between R33.04 million to R38.31 million

• Upper exploration estimate: between R37.59 million to R43.69 million

Secondary valuation

The project is in the exploration stage and therefore the valuator considered the cost approach as a suitable method to determine 

a range of values. This historical value was used in the cost approach to derive a best estimated full value (not attributable) of 

R41.72 million.

Range of values

Minxcon calculated a range of values using the upper and lower value of the market approach and the values derived from the cost 

approach and placed a higher weighting on the values of the market approach because of the higher confidence in this approach. 

The market approach is based on resource results coupled with acquisition information of various similar operations. Minxcon’s 

confidence in the market approach leads the Competent Valuator to prefer the results of the market approach versus the cost approach.

Minxcon derived a final value of R36 million for the Rozynenbosch Project with a lower range of R31 million and upper range of 

R42 million.

The Board has adopted the R39 million valuation on the Rozynenbosch Project and reversed the impairment by R39 million in the  

2017 financial year.
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Silver rights

Union Atlantic Minerals acquired various old order rights from Gold Fields during 1999 on Rozynenbosch including silver. During 2010 

when converting from the old order prospecting rights to the new order prospecting rights, the DMR erroneously omitted the silver right 

and awarded Union Atlantic Minerals the right to gold instead.  On 14 August 2013, the DMR revoked the award of the gold right to 

Miranda Minerals and acknowledged that it was an obvious error to have awarded the rights to gold.

The DMR acknowledged that a prospecting work programme with the inclusion of silver, zinc, cobalt, lead and copper would be 

submitted for amendment of the prospecting right. The regional manager submitted the correction to amend the prospecting 

right.  However, this excluded silver. Consequently, the latest prospecting right effective from 05 February 2018 excludes silver. 

During September 2018, the DMR awarded gold and silver prospecting rights to another party unrelated to Union Atlantic Minerals. 

Management is of the opinion that they own the silver right already, on the premise that a prospecting right cannot be awarded to 

another person for the same land according to s16(2)(b) of the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act, citing administration 

issues which are currently being appealed with the DMR.

Union Atlantic Minerals with the assistance of Japie Van Zyl Attorneys, applied for amendment to their work programme to include 

silver on the Rozynenbosch prospecting right. The Group is confident that a positive outcome will result from appealing to the DMR 

to reverse the administrative decision of awarding the silver right to third party. In the unlikely event of an unfavourable outcome 

from the appeal submitted to the DMR, management may take legal steps to recover the value of the silver-component right through 

compensation for exploration of the silver on behalf of the third party on the Rozynenbosch property.

6. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following table lists the entities which are controlled by the Group, either directly or indirectly through subsidiaries.

GROUP

Name of company Held by
% holding 

2018
% holding 

2017

Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited Union Atlantic Minerals Limited 70 100

Naledi Mining Solutions (Pty) Limited Union Atlantic Minerals Limited 70 70

Molebogeng Mining Investment Holdings (Pty) 

Limited Union Atlantic Minerals Limited 100 100

Lauraville Mynbou (Pty) Limited Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited 87 87

Firefox Investment (Pty) Limited Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited 50 50

City Square Trading 977 (Pty) Limited (dormant) Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited 70 70

Altivex 615 (Pty) Limited (dormant) Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited 55 55

Kiel 128 Exploration (Pty) Limited (dormant) Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited 74 74

Blue Moonlight Properties 215 (Pty) Limited Molebogeng Mining Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited 51 51

Winter Breeze Trading 78 (Pty) Limited Molebogeng Mining Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited 67 67

Emerald Sky Trading 467 (Pty) Limited Molebogeng Mining Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited 100 100

Little Swift Investment 385 (Pty) Limited Molebogeng Mining Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited 67 67

Miranda Coal (Pty) Limited Union Atlantic Minerals Limited – 100

The following table lists the entities which are controlled directly by the Company, and the carrying amounts of the investments in the 

Company’s separate financial statements.
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6. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued

COMPANY

Name of company Held by
% holding 

2018
% holding 

2017

Carrying 
amount  

2018

Carrying 
amount  

2017

Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited 70* 100 32,116,061 615,561

Miranda Coal (Pty) Limited – 100 – 8,099,900

Molebogeng Mining Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited 100 100 100 100

Naledi Mining Solutions (Pty) Limited 70 70 70 70

32,116,061 8,715,631

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries – (8,099,900)

32,116,061 615,731

*  Although Union Atlantic Minerals holds a 70% equity stake in Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited, it controls 100% as the other 30% share is being held as 
security until paid for by Kwanda Minerals Holdings (Pty) Limited and the Miranda Mining Community Benefit Trust. For consolidation purposes, it is also 
deemed that Union Atlantic Minerals controls the Miranda Mining Community Benefit Trust. 

=Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

The following information is provided for subsidiaries with non-controlling interests which are material to the reporting company. 

The summarised financial information is provided prior to intercompany eliminations.

Subsidiary Country of incorporation
% Ownership interest held by 

non-controlling interest

2018 2017

Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery (Pty) Limited RSA – 27

Applewood Trading 3 (Pty) Limited RSA – 28

Dwalalamadwala Mining Resources (Pty) Limited RSA – 35

Majestic Silver Trading 348 (Pty) Limited RSA – 35

Point Blank Trading 104 (Pty) Limited RSA – 36

Street Spirit Trading 54 (Pty) Limited RSA – 23

Framica (Pty) Limited RSA – 30

Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited RSA 30 –

All subsidiaries are incorporated in South Africa and share the year-end of the Group. The percentage ownership interest and the 

percentage voting rights of the non-controlling interests were the same in all cases. Refer to Note 12 for disposal of Miranda Coal and its 

related subsidiaries. 
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Summarised statement of financial position

2018
Non-current 

assets
Current  

assets
Total  

assets
Current 

liabilities
Total  

liabilities

Carrying 
amount of 

non-controlling 
interest

Miranda Minerals  

(Pty) Limited 39,000,137 391,032 39,391,169 3,583,597 3,583,597 –

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Profit/(loss) 
before tax Profit (loss)

Total 
comprehensive 

income

Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited (147,706) (147,706) (147,706)

Summarised statement of financial position

2017
Non-current 

assets
Current  

assets
Total  

assets

Non- 
current 

liabilities
Current 

liabilities
Total  

liabilities

Carrying 
amount of 

non-controlling 
interest

Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery  

(Pty) Limited 3,919,720 27 3,919,747 (1,212,573) (28,870,921) (30,083,494) (7,107,148)

Applewood Trading 3  

(Pty) Limited – 28 28 – (1,295,284) (1,295,284) (362,624)

Dwalalamadwala Mining 

Resources (Pty) Limited – 35 35 – (1,123,002) (1,123,002) (393,038)

Majestic Silver Trading 348  

(Pty) Limited – 48 48 – (994,242) (994,242) (351,652)

Point Blank Trading 104 

(Pty) Limited – 13,726 13,726 – (603,821) (603,821) (195,408)

Street Spirit Trading 54  

(Pty) Limited – 23 23 – (2,529,685) (2,529,685) (581,822)

Framica (Pty) Limited – 1,854,086 1,854,086 – (1,854,056) (1,854,056) 9

Total 3,919,720 1,867,973 5,787,693 (1,212,573) (37,271,011) (38,483,584) (8,991,683)

Non-controlling interest 
in all other subsidiaries (221,137)

Non-controlling interest 
per statement of financial 
position (9,212,820)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Profit/(loss) 
before tax

Profit  
(loss)

Total 
comprehensive 

income

Profit (loss) 
allocated to 

non-controlling 
interest

Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery (Pty) Limited (83,367) (83,367) (83,367) (22,509)
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7. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Name of company
Listed/ 

unlisted
% holding 

2018
% holding 

2017

Carrying 
amount  

2018

Carrying 
amount  

2017
Fair value  

2018
Fair value  

2017

Central Lake Trading (Pty) Limited unlisted – 40 – 40 – –

Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery  

(Pty) Limited* unlisted 37 – 2,500,000 – – –

2,500,000 40 – –

The carrying amounts of associates are shown net of impairment losses. 

* Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery (Pty) Limited is treated as a non-current asset held for sale. Refer to Note 12.

8. LOANS TO (FROM) GROUP COMPANIES
Subsidiaries

GROUP COMPANY

Carrying 
amount  

2018

Carrying 
amount  

2017

Carrying 
amount  

2018

Carrying 
amount  

2017

Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited – – 3,446,777 34,947,277

Lauraville Mynbou (Pty) Limited – – 2,500 –

Molebogeng Mining Investments (Pty) Limited – – 7,354 7,354

Naledi Mining Solutions (Pty) Limited – – 6,234 6,234

The Company has no intention to recall the above loans during the  

next 12 months. These loans carry no interest and have no fixed 

repayment terms

– – 3,462,865 34,960,865

Fair value of loans to and from Group companies

Loans to Group companies – – 3,462,865 34,960,865
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GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

9. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
At fair value through profit or loss – designated

Environmental insurance policy 1,157,502 1,328,342 1,157,502 1,328,342

The closing balance can be reconciled by adding the fair value 

adjustments as per Note 19 and deducting the payment of the 

outstanding Premium Plan Finance amount as per Note 16 from the 

opening balance

Loans and receivables

Miranda Support Services (Pty) Limited 105,006 105,006 105,006 105,006

The loan carries no interest and has been repaid after year-end

105,006 105,006 105,006 105,006

Total other financial assets 1,262,508 1,433,348 1,262,508 1,433,348

Non-current assets

At fair value through profit or loss – designated 1,157,502 1,328,342 1,157,502 1,328,342

1,157,502 1,328,342 1,157,502 1,328,342

Current assets

Loans and receivables 105,006 105,006 105,006 105,006

1,262,508 1,433,348 1,262,508 1,433,348

Fair value information

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at fair value, which is therefore equal to their carrying amounts. 

Where quoted, market prices are not available and valuation techniques are used to determine fair value, as explained below:

•  The fair value of this deposit is derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset, 

directly (market related interest rates). The significant input in determining the value of this asset is the market related interest rate.

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

Fair value hierarchy of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss

Level 2

Environmental insurance policy 1,157,502 1,328,342 1,157,502 1,328,342

The Group has not reclassified any financial assets from cost or 

amortised cost to fair value, or from fair value to cost or amortised cost 

during the current or prior year

Fair values of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables  105,006 105,006  105,006 105,006
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GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 2 2 6 4

VAT 1,010,676 649,504 1,010,676 637,257

Sundry receivables 216 216 – –

1,010,894 649,722 1,010,682 637,261

Fair value of trade and other receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the receivables, the carrying value 

approximates the fair value

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances 358,664 2,109 358,664 2,109

Short-term deposits 2,659,323 – 2,659,323 –

Restricted cash relates to guarantees provided to the DMR  

for prospecting rights 316,999 350,675 316,999 350,675

Bank overdraft – (593) – –

3,334,986 352,191 3,334,986 352,784

Current assets 3,334,986 352,784 3,334,986 352,784

Current liabilities – (593) – –

3,334,986 352,191 3,334,986 352,784

The carrying values approximate the fair value due to the short-term nature of the instrument.

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS OR DISPOSAL GROUPS OR NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Disposal of 100% of the shares held in Miranda Coal (Pty) Limited

All the conditions precedent with respect to the sale of Miranda Coal have been satisfied. The transaction was implemented on 

16 August 2018 and the Company received the total consideration of R8 million.

Disposal of the entire equity interest in Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery (Pty) Limited

The sale of the Company’s 73% equity stake in the Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery (Pty) Limited to Osho Resources SA (Pty) Limited for 

R7.5 million was concluded. The litigation between the parties has been completely abandoned as a consequence of this transaction. 

The first tranche, the sale of 36.5% for R2.5 million, was settled before year-end and the second tranche, the sale of the remaining 

36.5% for R2.5 million, was settled after year-end after obtaining the Section 11 Ministerial consent for the change in control in 

the shareholding of Sesikhona. A final production initiation bonus payment of R2.5 million will be payable by Osho to the Company 

in equal tranches monthly over a period of six (6) months and will be initiated three months after the date of commencement of 

production at Sesikhona.
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GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

Profit and loss

Expenses 2,290 1,098,843 – 1,021,360

Assets and liabilities

Non-current assets held for sale

Investment – Sesikhona 2,500,000 – 2,500,000 –

Investment in subsidiary – Miranda Coal (Pty) Limited – – – 100

Loan receivable – Miranda Coal (Pty) Limited – – – 7,999,900

2,500,000 – 2,500,000 8,000,000

Assets of disposal groups

Associates – 40 – –

Other financial assets – 34,915 – –

Trade and other receivables – 27,554 – –

Intangible assets – 7,213,688 – –

– 7,276,197 – –

2,500,000 7,276,197 2,500,000 8,000,000

Liabilities of disposal groups

Other financial liabilities – (225,926) – –

Environmental rehabilitation provision – (1,270,776) – –

Taxation liability – (1,854,056) – –

– (3,350,758) – –

Equity

Value attributable to Group and Company (2,500,000) (13,000,000) (2,500,000) (8,000,000)

Non-controlling interest – 9,074,561 – –

(2,500,000) (3,925,439) (2,500,000) (8,000,000)

Gain on non current held for sale or disposal group

Proceeds 10,500,000 – – –

Assets of disposal group (7,241,724) – – –

Liabilities of disposal group 3,350,758 – – –

Non-controlling interest related to disposal group (9,074,561) – – –

Asset still remaining 2,500,000 – – –

Total 34,473 – – –
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13. SHARE CAPITAL

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

Authorised

5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of no par value

Issued

Ordinary share capital  209,586,425  209,586,425  209,586,425  209,586,425

Reconciliation of number of shares issued:

Opening 1,288,086,443 711,153,965 1,288,086,443 711,153,965

Issue of shares – ordinary shares – 576,932,478 – 576,932,478

1,288,086,443 1,288,086,443 1,288,086,443 1,288,086,443

The unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors in terms of a resolution of members passed at the last annual 

general meeting. This authority remains in force until the next annual general meeting.

14. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share option group
2018

Number
2017

Number

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 14,900,000 15,850,000

Lapsed during the year (14,900,000) (950,000)

Outstanding at the end of the year – 14,900,000

The Company has evaluated if the B-BBEE Transaction in respect of Rozynenbosch Project (page 15 – Operational review) has resulted in 

any IFRS 2 charge.

This is because the substance of the transaction was that Union Atlantic Minerals had offered shares in subsidiary Miranda Minerals 

(Pty) Limited to Kwanda Minerals Holdings and the Miranda Community Benefit Trust, in exchange for B-BBEE credentials. Management 

believes that the equity instruments issued in return for the B-BBEE credentials is an option to acquire shares with full rights at a future 

date.

Accounting for the transaction as an option is consistent with the risk and reward profile of the arrangement. From the perspective of 

Kwanda Minerals Holdings and Miranda Community Benefit Trust, as they have not invested any significant amount to acquire their 

rights, if the arrangement does not work, they will not put their own resources at risk (the entities may negotiate alternative terms 

of repayment should it be unduly onerous for either of them to repay at the end of the repayment period). If there is upside in the 

arrangement they will benefit and once the loans are repaid they will receive unencumbered rights to the shares. It is at this point that 

the issue of the shares will be recorded. Therefore, the equity instrument is valued using IFRS 2 as an option.

As at year-end, management used the Black-Scholes Model to value the IFRS 2 option. The following parameters were used:

• Share price: R1.57 per share (the net asset value of Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited right before the transaction was used to value 

the shares)

• Exercise price: R26.25 per share (the subscription price as per agreement was used)

• Risk free interest rate: 7.18%

• Volality: 27.56% (the Satrix RESI ETF price was used over the period 21 August 2015 – 21 August 2018 in calculating volatility.   

It tracks the FTSE/JSE Capped Resource 10 Index which includes the 10 largest companies listed on the JSE, ranked by investable 

market capital)

• Expected life: 3 years (term in which the B-BBEE partners should repay the loan, deemed option term)

• Dividend yield: 0% (the Company does not anticipate declaring any dividends within the next 3 years)

Based on the above parameters, an IFRS 2 charge of zero was calculated and therefore no share based payment was recognised.
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Because the transaction is accounted for as an IFRS 2 option to acquire shares at a future date (option accounting), a receivable in 

Union Atlantic Minerals separates financial statement and a payable in the Kwanda Minerals Holdings and Miranda Community Benefit 

Trust was not recognised.

The original loan between Union Atlantic Minerals and Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited was accounted for, as the repayment of this 

loan is not linked to dividend declarations. As the Kwanda Minerals Holdings and the Miranda Community Benefit Trust effectively 

cedes the shares to Union Atlantic Minerals, the Company has all the shares which were legally issued and will be entitled to all 

dividends. Therefore, Union Atlantic Minerals had a payable to Miranda Minerals (Pty) Limited and an increase in their investment in 

Miranda Minerals.

GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

15. LOANS TO (FROM) SHAREHOLDERS
Incubex Minerals Limited – (151,146) – (151,146)

The loan was forgiven during the current financial year

Fair value of loans to and from shareholders

Loans from shareholders – (151,146) – (151,146)

Due to the short-term nature of the loans, the carrying value 

approximates the fair value

16. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Held at amortised cost

Premium Plan Finance* – 200,907 – 200,907

Sephaku Holdings Limited 1,073,054 1,073,054 1,073,054 1,073,054

J Wallington (1) (1) (1) (1)

Resource Company Group 332,500 332,500 332,500 332,500

Loans from directors, managers and employees 48,000 48,000 48,000 48,000

Fusion Corporate 16,000 16,000 16,000 16,000

The above loans carried no interest and have no fixed  

repayment terms

1,469,553 1,670,460 1,469,553 1,670,460

Current liabilities

At amortised cost 1,469,553 1,670,460 1,469,553 1,670,460

*  The Premium Plan Finance liability was settled through surplus funds in the 
Environmental insurance policy disclosed in Note 9. The repayment of this 
liability was not disclosed as a cash flow in the Statement of Cash Flow. 
The movement of R200,907 was the only reconciling items as per IAS 7.44 
disclosure requirements.

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables 2,441,271 4,938,664 2,441,271 4,937,895

Other payables 822,977 674,279 686,157 674,279

Accrued expense 8,224,690 5,370,940 8,224,690 5,370,940

11,488,938 10,983,883 11,352,118 10,983,114

Trade and other payables
Trade payables and other payables are non-interest-bearing. These payables are post creditors compromise and have no specific 
payment terms. The Group anticipates that the trade and other payables will be settled when the transactions mentioned in Note 34  
are concluded.
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GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

18. OPERATING LOSS
Operating loss for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Remuneration, other than to employees, for:

Secretarial services (98,263) (687,886) (98,263) (687,886)

Legal fees (851,498) (1,771,636) (851,498) (1,731,636)

(949,761) (2,459,522) (949,761) (2,419,522

Loan forgiven 151,146 – 151,146 –

Employee costs (4,239,639) (4,609,106) (4,239,639) (4,609,106)

JSE and corporate-related expenses (403,473) (285,012) (403,473) (285,012)

Auditors remuneration (257,806) (1,202,794) (257,806) (1,202,794)

Other operating expenses (1,857,460) (355,487) (1,709,569) (355,667)

(6,607,232) (6,452,399) (6,459,341) (6,452,579)

Operating loss (7,556,993) (8,911,921) (7,409,102) (8,872,101)

19. FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS
Other financial assets 30,067 – 30,067 –

20. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

Material impairment losses (recognised) reversed

Loans to Group companies – Miranda Coal (Pty) Limited – – 5,034,500 59,619,219

During the 2017 financial year, the Miranda Coal (Pty) Limited 
loan account in Union Atlantic Minerals Limited was impaired and 
during the current year, R5,034,500 was recovered partly because 
of the Sesikhona investment that was transfered from Miranda Coal 
(Pty) Limited to Union Atlantic Minerals Limited. The transfer was 
necessary as the coal transaction was concluded before the Sesikhona 
transaction. Sesikhona was not included in the coal transaction and 
was part of a separate transaction

Intangible asset – Mining right Rozynenbosch  
Refer to Note 5 for details regarding the impairment reversal – 39,000,000 – –

Intangible asset – Mining right Sesikhona 
The recoverable amount of the asset was based on its fair value less 
costs to sell. The Company has decided to dispose this asset. Refer to 
Note 12 for more details

– 3,293,968 – –

– 42,293,968 5,034,500 59,619,219

Figures in Rand

21. FINANCE COSTS
Bank 1,731 – 1,731 –
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GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

22. TAXATION
Major components of the tax expense

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense

Accounting (loss)/profit (7,477,586) 33,400,524 (2,329,668) (68,472,843)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2017: 28%) (2,093,724) 9,352,147 (652,307) (19,172,396)

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income

Non-taxable impairment reversal – (10,920,000) (1,409,660) –

Non-taxable fair value on disposal group – (922,311) – –

Non-deductable legal fees 238,419 670,039 238,419 658,839

Non-deductable fines 38,310 16,684 – 16,684

Non-deductable loan impairment – – – 16,693,381

Tax losses carried forward 1,816,995 1,803,441 1,823,548 1,803,492

– – – –

Deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax 

credits for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 198,601,047 223,271,002 164,350,301 157,837,632

No deferred tax asset was raised for estimated tax losses carried 

forward. The Group is currently assessing the total estimated assessed 

loss disclosed above to determine the expiry date thereof and if 

portions have not expired already. The companies in the Group have 

been assessed up to 31 August 2017. The Group 2017 figure of 

R223,271,002 included the disposal Group’s estimated assessed loss.

23. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Fees 257,806 1,202,794 257,806 1,202,794

24. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing profit or loss 
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year

Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share

From continuing operations (c per share) (0.58) 4.21 – –

From discontinued operations (c per share) – (0.14) – –

(0.58) 4.07 – –
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GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

Basic and diluted loss per share for continued operations was 
based on (loss)/profit of (R7,477,586) (2017: R33,400,524) and a 
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,288,086,443  
(2017: 793,957,670).

Basic and diluted loss per share for discontinued operations was based 
on loss of R2,290 (2017: R1,076,334) and a weighted average number 
of ordinary shares of 1,288,086,443 (2017: 793,957,670).

Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings per share

Headline earnings per share and diluted headline earnings per share  
are determined by dividing headline earnings and diluted headline 
earnings by the weighted average number of ordinary shares  
outstanding during a period.

Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings are determined by  
adjusting basic earnings and diluted earnings by excluding separately 
identifiable re-measurement items. Headline earnings and diluted 
headline earnings are presented after tax and non-controlling interest.

Headline loss from continuing operations (c per share) (0.58) (1.12)

Headline loss from discontinuing operations (c per share) (0.58) (0.14)

Reconciliation between earnings (loss) and headline earnings (loss)

Basic earnings (loss)/earnings attributable to the parent (7,477,586) 33,400,524

Adjusted for:

Reversal of impairment of mining right – Rozynenbosch (net of tax)* – (39,000,000)

Reversal of impairment of mining right – Sesikhona (net of tax)* – (3,293,968)

(7,477,586) (8,893,444)

Net asset and net tangible asset value per share

Net asset value per share (c) 2.66 3.24

Net tangible asset value per share (c) (0.36) 0.21

The net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets 
attributable to the shareholders through the number of ordinary shares 
in issue at year-end. At year-end, the number of shares in issue was 
1,288,086,443 (2017:1,288,086,443) and the net asset value was 
R34,288,155 (2017: R41,768,031).

The net tangible asset value per share is calculated by dividing the net 
assets attributable to the shareholders minus intangibles assets through 
the number of ordinary shares in issue at year-end. At year-end, the 
number of shares in issue was 1,288,086,443 (2017:1,288,086,443) 
and the net tangible asset value was (R4,711,845) (2017: R16,140,816).

The share options disclosed in Note 14 have no dilutive effect as the 
current share price is below the option issue price.

The Group has adopted net asset value per share for the purposes of 
trading statement updates.

*  The reversal of impairments are not taxable
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GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

25. CASH USED IN OPERATIONS
(Loss)/profit before taxation from continuing operations (7,477,586) 33,400,524 (2,329,668) (68,472,843)

Adjustments for:

Fair value disposal group (34,473) – – –

Interest received (16,598) (18,477) (16,598) (18,477)

Finance costs 1,731 – 1,731 –

Fair value adjustments (30,067) – (30,067) –

Reversal of impairments mineral right – (42,293,968) – –

Impairment of loans to Group companies – – – 59,619,219

Reversal of impairment of loans to Group companies – – (5,034,500) –

Loan written-off (151,146) – (151,146) –

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (361,172) (522,527) (373,419) (552,547)

Trade and other payables 505,055 8,833,846 369,004 8,866,561

(7,564,256) (600,602) (7,564,663) (558,087)

26. TAXATION
Balance at beginning of the year – (1,854,056) – –

Adjustment in respect of disposal groups – 1,854,056 – –

– – – –

27. CASH FLOWS OF HELD FOR SALE/ 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Cash used in operations (2,290) (1,544) – –

Cash received from investing activities 34,915 – –

Cash used in financing activities (442) – –

32,183 (1,544) – –

28. COMMITMENTS

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated on a month-

to-month basis. No contingent rent is payable. Sub-leases are prohibited.

29. CONTINGENCIES

Management applies its judgement to the probabilities and advice it receives from its advisers in assessing if an obligation is probable, 

more likely than not or remote.

At the issue date of this report, the Group and Company were not aware of any contingencies or any other potential liabilities 

that exist.

30. RELATED PARTIES
Relationships as at reporting date

Subsidiaries Refer to Note 6

Associates Refer to Note 7

Shareholder with significant influence Incubex Minerals Limited

Associate of key management PR Botha & Company Inc (AM Botha)

Members of key management AM Botha

T Botoulas

Special Purpose Entities Miranda Mining Community Benefit Trust
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GROUP COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

Figures in Rand

30. RELATED PARTIES continued

Related party balances

Loan accounts – owing (to) by related parties

Incubex Minerals Limited – 151,146 – 151,146

Amounts included in trade receivable (trade payable)  
regarding related parties:

T Botoulas 5,872,796 3,973,796 5,872,796 3,973,796

PR Botha & Company Inc 216,775 64,486 216,775 264,488

Related party transactions

Accounting fees

PR Botha & Company Inc 268,105 264,488 268,105 264,488

Rent paid to (received from) related parties

PR Botha & Company Inc 25,000 – 25,000 –

31. DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ EMOLUMENTS

No emoluments were paid to the non-executive directors during the year. The non-executive directors have prepared a proposal with 

regards to remuneration for past services. Detail of the proposal is available in the Corporate Governance report on page 26 to 27 of this 

Integrated Report. Special resolutions number 3 and 4 have been included in the notice of the annual general meeting to give effect to the 

proposal.

The remuneration has not been recognised due to the following facts:

•   No formal agreement in place to pay non-executive remuneration

•   The Memorandum of Incorporation does not specifically provide for remuneration of non-executive remuneration apart from the normal 

approval under Section 66(9) of the Companies Act

•   The last approval that was obtained under Section 66(9) of the Companies Act was on 31 March 2014 and expired on 31 August 2014

•   At the last annual general meeting held on 6 August 2018, no special resolution approving non-executive remuneration was included in 

the notice of the annual general meeting

•   The non-executive directors consented in acting as non-executive directors knowing that no shareholders’ approval was in place 

for payment to non-executive directors and that any payment to the non-executive directors would be dependent on approval by 

shareholders

During the period for which approval for retrospective non-executive director remuneration is sought, it must be noted that the 

non-executive directors consented to act in such capacity in the absence of executive directors and management and under difficult 

circumstances. This action was taken in order to retain the Company intact for and on behalf of preserving remaining value for 

shareholders. The resignation of the non-executive directors at the time would have had a catastrophic effect on Company prospects. 

In order to ensure a future for shareholders, the three (3) non-executive directors and Company Secretary assumed effective 

management control knowing that no shareholders’ approval was in place for payment to non-executive directors and that any 

payment to the non-executive directors would be dependent on future approval by shareholders. The intervention was successful and 

approval is now being sought.
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Executive
2018 Emoluments Total

T Botoulas 3,518,444 3,518,444

A Botha 425,092 425,092

3,943,536 3,943,536

2017 Emoluments Total

T Botoulas 3,973,796 3,973,796

Prescribed officers

2018
Fees for 
services Total

Company secretary 98,263 98,263

2017
Fees for 
services Total

Company secretary 687,886 687,886

32. RISK MANAGEMENT
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 

returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

Please refer to the going concern Note 34 for more details with regards to capital raise questions.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Notes 8, 15 and 16, cash and cash 

equivalents disclosed in Note 11 and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed capital 

requirements from the previous year.

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market (including cash flow interest rate risk and price risk) and 

liquidity risks.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 

adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Board of directors provides written principles for overall risk management 

as well as written policies covering specific areas such as interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Group manages liquidity risk through 

an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities. Please refer to the going concern Note 34 for details with regards to 

liquidity requirements.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequate utilised borrowing facilities are monitored.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 

statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 

cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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32. RISK MANAGEMENT continued

GROUP

At 31 August 2018 Less than one year

Other financial liabilities 1,469,553

Trade and other payables 11,488,938

At 31 August 2017 Less than one year

Loans from shareholders 151,146

Other financial liabilities 1,670,460

Trade and other payables 10,983,883

COMPANY

At 31 August 2018 Less than one year

Other financial liabilities 1,469,553

Trade and other payables 11,352,118

At 31 August 2017 Less than one year

Loans from shareholders 151,146

Other financial liabilities 1,670,460

Trade and other payables 10,983,114

Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially 

independent of changes in market interest rates.

At 31 August 2018, if interest rates on rand-denominated borrowings had been 0.1 basis points higher/lower with all other variables 

held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been Rnil (2017: Rnil) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest 

expense on floating rate borrowings.

Credit risk

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an on-going basis. Reputable financial 

institutions are used for investing and cash handling purposes.

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits and cash equivalents. The Group only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit 

standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year-end were as follows:

GROUP COMPANY

Financial instrument 2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 3,334,986 352,784 3,334,986 352,784

Other financial assets 1,262,508 1,433,348 1,262,508 1,433,348

Trade and other receivables 218 226 218 –

Loans to Group companies – – 3,462,865 34,960,865

Loans to Group companies are reviewed on a regular basis by management to manage credit risk in relation to these loans.
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Foreign exchange risk

The Group and the Company do not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations as they do not have any material foreign exchange exposure 

nor do they import or export any commodities on which foreign exchange risk would arise.

Price risk

As the Group is primarily involved in mineral exploration, it is not directly exposed to commodity price risk. However, the feasibility of 

some of the Group’s exploration projects could be indirectly affected due to an adverse drop in commodity prices. The intangible assets 

reflected on the statement of financial position of the Group values the discounted future cash flows arising from the Group’s share in 

the potential future share of revenue in the project.

33. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER 31 AUGUST 2018 – TILL SIGN-OFF DATE
Rozynenbosch – Right to silver

It has come to the attention of the Company’s management that the prospecting rights for gold and silver at Rozynenbosch have been 
awarded to an unknown third party. Management has advised the DMR that the award for silver is contrary to the documents filed by 
the Company, which have always included silver in its prospecting rights applications, and that due process and consultation was not 
followed by the third party.

Management originally acquired various prospecting rights including silver, under the old order prospecting rights. Upon conversion 
into the new order prospecting rights, silver was not included as a material right in the new order prospecting right awarded. 
Management has in the past, submitted applications and appeals to the DMR to amend their prospecting right to include the silver 
right as management believes that the Rozynenbosch prospecting right documentation erroneously omitted silver from the new order 
prospecting right and that administrative issues had to be rectified by the DMR. The historic content of the documentation between the 
Company and the DMR reflect silver as being part of the Rozynenbosch right and therefore management has taken steps to have the 
awarding of the silver right to a third party set aside.

Management has directed the appropriate appeals to the DMR and has taken legal steps to ameliorate the risk and to secure the 
rights of the Company. Management is confident of a positive resolution and has valued the Rozynenbosch prospecting right as at 
31 August 2018, including the silver right as per the competent persons report published in 2018. Management has valued the right 
including silver because management believes that they are entitled to the rights and that administrative issues will be duly resolved. 
Should an unfavourable outcome result from the appeal to the DMR, management may take legal steps to recover the value of the 
silver right through compensation for exploration of the silver on behalf of the third party on the Rozynenbosch property. The full 
effects of the exclusion of silver, on the basis that it will not be mined specifically by any party,  can be obtained in the competent 
persons report.

Disposal of the entire equity interest in Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery (Pty) Limited

All the conditions precedent with respect to the sale of Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery (Pty) Limited have been satisfied and therefore, 
the transaction was implemented on 29 January 2019. The Company received the final consideration of R2.5 million excluding potential 
production bonuses of R2.5 million.

34. GOING CONCERN

The Group and Company recorded a comprehensive (loss)/profit of (R7,479,876) and (R2,329,668) respectively during the year ended 
31 August 2018 (2017: Group R32,301,681; Company (R69,494,203). As of year-end, the Group and Company were in a net current 
liability position of R8,507,605 and R8,370,997 respectively (2017: Group R11,698,570; Company R11,709,669). As at year-end, the 
Group and Company were in a net asset position of R34,388,155 and R30,865,601 respectively (2017: Group R41,768,031; Company 
R33,195,269).

The Group currently does not generate revenue and is in the final stage of a restructuring process. The Company currently remains 
suspended on the JSE. In line with the revised strategy, the Group will pursue brownfields projects in known mineral producing areas. 
The initial area of focus will include projects in proximity to the Rozynenbosch project in the Northern Cape province, and will be 
expanded to other jurisdictions in due course. In respect of the planned development of the Rozynenbosch project and as disclosed in 
Note 33 – Significant events after 31 August 2018 – till sign-off date, it has come to the attention of the Company’s management that 
during September 2018, the DMR awarded the gold and silver prospecting rights at Rozynenbosch to another party unrelated to Union 
Atlantic Minerals.

The directors believe that the conditions above indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business as it is dependent on the successful outcome of future events which are discussed below.



Union Atlantic MineralsPAGE 76

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2018

34. GOING CONCERN continued

The most significant aspects of management’s plans to deal with the uncertainty include:
• Raising an additional R30 million in capital, necessary for developing the Rozynenbosch prospecting right 

• With reference to Note 33 – Significant events after 31 August 2018 – till sign-off date, management has advised the DMR that 
the award for silver is contrary to the documents filed by the Company which have always included silver in its prospecting rights 
applications. Management has directed the appropriate appeals to the DMR and has taken legal steps to ameliorate the risk and 
secure the rights of the Company.  Management is confident of a positive resolution and has valued the Rozynenbosch prospecting 
right as at 31 August 2018, including the silver right as per the competent persons report published in 2018. Management has 
valued the right including silver because management believes that they are entitled to the rights and that administrative issues will 
be duly be resolved

• Uplifting the suspension of the Union Atlantic Minerals Limited shares on the JSE

• Funding continued operational expense requirements

The summerised financial statements set out in this report are the responsibility of the Company’s directors. They have been prepared 
by the directors on the basis of appropriate accounting policies which have been consistently applied. The financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with IFRS and on the basis of accounting policies applicable to going concern. IFRS was considered 
most appropriate as the Group and Company do not intend on liquidating or ceasing to trade. This basis presumes that funds will 
be available to fund future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities will occur in the ordinary course 

of business.

35. GROUP SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified based on internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly 
reviewed by executive management including the CEO, to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance. 
The Group has identified its operating segments in the past based on its main exploration divisions and aggregated them into coal, 
diamonds, gold, base metals, and industrial minerals and other. During the 2017 financial year, the Group initiated a process of 
disposing all its coal assets and to focus only on the Rozynenbosch Project located in the Northern Cape province. All efforts during 
the year were towards disposing the coal assets and therefore, the expenses were allocated to the coal disposal group segment. 
The coal disposal group segment does not necessarily agree to the loss from discontinuing operation on the face of the statement of 
comprehensive income. These values have been reconciled to the consolidated and separate financial results. The measures reported 
on by the Group are in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the consolidated and separate 
annual financial statements.

Segment operating expenses comprise all operating expenses of the different reportable segments and are either directly attributable 
to the reportable segment, or can be allocated to the reportable segment on a reasonable basis. The segment assets and liabilities 
comprise all assets and liabilities of the different segments that are employed by the reportable segments and are either directly 

attributable to the reportable segments, or can be allocated to the reportable segment on a reasonable basis.
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For the year ended 31 August 2018

Coal –  
disposal 

group Diamonds Gold

Base 
metals and 

industrial 
minerals Other Group

Operating expenses and impairments 2,290 – – – 7,556,993 7,559,283

Management operating loss 2,290 – – – 7,556,993 7,559,283

Investment income – – – – (16,598) (16,598)

Fair value adjustment – – – – (30,067) (30,067)

Gain on non-current assets held for sale (34,473) – – – – (34,473)

Finance cost – – – – 1,731 1,731

Segment result: loss before taxation (32,183) – – – 7,512,059 7,479,876

Cash flow per segment

Cash received/(used) in operations 32,183 – – – (7,549,388) (7,517,205)

Cash received from investing activities 10,500,000 – – – – 10,500,000

Segment assets 2,500,000 63 – 39,073,652 5,534,669 47,108,388

Disposal group 2,500,000 – – – – 2,500,000

Mineral rights – – – 39,000,000 – 39,000,000

Other assets – 63 – 73,652 5,534,673 5,608,388

Segment liabilities – – – – (12,958,491) (12,958,491)

Trade and other payables – – – – (11,488,938) (11,488,938)

Other liabilities – – – – (1,469,553) (1,469,553)

For the year ended 31 August 2017

Coal Diamonds Gold

Base 
metals and 

industrial 
minerals Other Group

Operating expenses and impairments 9,967,397 – – – – 9,967,397

Management operating loss 9,967,397 – – – – 9,967,397

Investment income (18,477) – – – – (18,477)

Impairment reversal of mining right (3,328,817) – – (39,000,000) – (42,328,817)

Finance cost 78,216 – – – – 78,216

Segment result: loss before taxation 6,698,319 – – (39,000,000) – (32,301,681)

Impairment reversal mining right 3,293,968 – – 39,000,000 – –

Cash flow per segment

Cash used in operations (1,544) – – – (582,125) (583,669)

Cash used in investing activities – – – – (14,870) (14,870)

Cash received from financing activities – – – – 544,865 544,865

Segment assets 7,276,197 63 – 39,073,623 2,362,168 48,712,051

Mining properties – – – – – 7,276,197

Capital work-in-progress 7,276,197 – – – – –

Mineral rights – – – 39,000,000 – 39,000,000

Other assets – 63 – 73,623 2,362,168 2,435,854

Segment liabilities (3,350,758) – – (593) (12,805,489) (16,156,840)

Environmental rehabilitation provisions (3,350,758) – – – – (3,350,758)

Trade and other payables – – – – (10,983,883) (10,983,883)

Other liabilities – – – (593) (1,821,606) (1,822,199)
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

UNION ATLANTIC MINERALS LIMITED
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given of the annual general meeting of shareholders of Union Atlantic Minerals to 
be held at the Suite 405, 4th Floor, Lougardia Building, 1262 Embarkment Road, Centurion, 0157, 
South Africa on 5 August 2019, at 10:00am (the AGM).

PURPOSE
The purpose of the AGM is to transact the business set out in the agenda below.

AGENDA

• Presentation of the audited annual financial statements of the Company, including the reports of the directors and the Audit and Risk 

Committee for the year ended 31 August 2018. The Integrated Annual Report of which this notice forms part, contains the summarised 

Group financial statements and the aforementioned reports. The annual financial statements, including the unmodified audit opinion, are 

available on Union Atlantic Minerals’ website at www.unionatlanticminerals.com, or may be requested and obtained in person, at no 

charge, at the registered office of Union Atlantic Minerals during office hours.

• To consider and, if deemed fit, approve with or without modification, the following ordinary and special resolutions:

Shareholders are requested to note the following dates:

• Record date to be entitled to receive notice of the AGM is 1 July 2019

• Last day to trade to be eligible to vote is 24 July 2019

• Record date to be entitled to vote at the AGM is 29 July 2019

Note:

For any of ordinary resolution numbers 1 to 6 (inclusive), 9 and 11 (inclusive) to be adopted, more than 50% of the voting rights exercised 

on each such ordinary resolution must be exercised in favour thereof. For ordinary resolutions numbers 7 to 8 and 10 (inclusive) to be 

adopted, at least 75% of the voting rights exercised on such ordinary resolution must be exercised in favour thereof.

1. Ordinary resolution number 1: Retirement and re-election of director

RESOLVED that Peter Cook, who retires by rotation in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) of the Company and, being 

eligible, offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a director.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 1 is that the MOI of the Company, the JSE Listings Requirements and, to the extent 

applicable, the South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended (the Companies Act), require that a component of the non-

executive directors rotate at every annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, may offer themselves for re-election as 

directors.

2. Re-appointment of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company

Note: For avoidance of doubt, all references to the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company is a reference to the Audit and Risk 
Committee as contemplated in the Companies Act. 

2.1  Ordinary resolution number 2
RESOLVED that Gideon Joubert, being eligible, be and is re-appointed as a member and Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee of 

the Company, as recommended by the Board of the Company, until the next AGM of the Company.

2.2  Ordinary resolution number 3
RESOLVED that Dr Lelau Mohuba, being eligible, be and is re-appointed as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee of the 

Company, as recommended by the Board of the Company, until the next AGM of the Company.

2.3  Ordinary resolution number 4
RESOLVED that Peter Cook, being eligible, be and is re-appointed as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company, as 

recommended by the Board of the Company and subject to passing of ordinary resolution number 1 until the next AGM of the Company.

The reason for ordinary resolutions numbers 2 to 4 (inclusive) is that the Company, being a public listed company, must appoint an 
Audit and Risk Committee and the Companies Act requires that the members of such Audit and Risk Committee be re-appointed, at 
each annual general meeting of a company. A brief curriculum vitae of each of the members up for re-election to the Audit and Risk 
Committee appears on page 13 of the Integrated Report.
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3. Ordinary resolution number 5: Re-appointment of auditor

RESOLVED that Ernst and Young Inc., with David Petrus Venter as designated audit partner, be and are hereby re-appointed as auditors 

of the Company for the ensuing year on the recommendation of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company.

The Audit and Risk Committee has nominated Ernst and Young Inc., with David Petrus Venter for appointment in terms of Section 90 of 

the Companies Act and further evaluated their suitability for appointment in accordance with paragraph 3.84(g)(iii) of the JSE Listings 

Requirements.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 5 is that the Company, being a public listed company, must have its financial results audited 
and such auditor must be appointed or re-appointed each year at the AGM of the Company as required by the Companies Act.

4. Ordinary resolution number 6: Non-binding endorsement of Union Atlantic Minerals’ remuneration 
policy 

RESOLVED that the shareholders endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, the Company’s remuneration policy as set out on 

pages 23 to 27 of the Integrated Report.

5. Ordinary resolution number 7: Non-binding endorsement of Union Atlantic Minerals’ remuneration 
implementation report

RESOLVED that the Company’s remuneration implementation report in regard to its remuneration policy as contained in this Integrated 

Report, be and is hereby endorsed by way of a non-binding advisory vote.

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution numbers 6 and 7 
The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 6 and 7 is that the King IV Report on Corporate Governance recommends that on an annual 

basis, the Company’s remuneration be disclosed in three parts, namely:

• A background statement

• An overview of the remuneration policy

• Remuneration implementation report

and that shareholders be requested to pass separate non-binding advisory votes on the remuneration policy and the remuneration 

implementation report at the AGM. Voting on the above two resolutions enables shareholders to express their views on the 

remuneration policy adopted and on its implementation.

The Remuneration Committee prepared, and the Board considered and accepted the remuneration policy and remuneration 

implementation report thereon, as set out in this Integrated Report. 

The remuneration policy also records the measures that the Board will adopt in the event that either the remuneration policy or the 

remuneration implementation report, or both, are voted against by 25% or more of the voting rights exercised by shareholders. In such 

event, the Company will, in its announcement of the results of the AGM, provide dissenting shareholders with information as to how to 

engage with the Company in regard to this matter and the timing of such engagement. 

6. Ordinary resolution number 8: General authority to directors to allot and issue authorised but unissued 
ordinary shares

RESOLVED that the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company be and are hereby placed under control 

and authority of the directors of the Company and that the directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised and empowered to 

allot, issue and otherwise dispose of such ordinary shares to such person or persons on such terms and conditions and at such times as 

the directors of the Company may from time to time and in their discretion deem fit, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 

the MOI of the Company and the JSE Listings Requirements, when applicable, such authority to remain in force until the next AGM.

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 8
In terms of the Company’s MOI, the Board may, with the prior approval of the shareholders at a general meeting, subject to the statutes 

and the approval of the Issuer Regulation Division of the JSE (where necessary), issue authorised but unissued shares in the Company 

to such person or persons on such terms and conditions and with such rights or restrictions attached thereto as the directors may 

determine from time to time. 
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7. Ordinary resolution number 9: General authority to issue shares for cash

RESOLVED that the directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised, by way of a general authority, to allot and issue any of 

the Company’s unissued shares for cash as they, in their discretion may deem fit, without restriction, subject to the provisions of the 

Company’s MOI, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements provided that:

(a)  the equity securities which are the subject of this general authority be of a class already in issue or, where this is not the case, must 

be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue

(b)  the equity securities must be issued to public shareholders, as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements, and not to related parties

(c) the equity securities which are the subject of this general authority:

(1)  may not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the Company’s listed equity securities as at the date of the AGM, being the equivalent 

of 386,425,933 equity securities

(2)  any equity securities issued in terms of this general authority must be deducted from the initial number of equity securities 

available under this general authority being 386,425,933 equity securities

(3)  in the event of a subdivision or consolidation of issued equity securities during the period of this general authority, the general 

authority must be adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio

(d) the general authority shall be valid until Union Atlantic Minerals’ next AGM, or for 15 months from the date on which the general 

authority for such ordinary resolution was passed, whichever period is shorter subject to the JSE Listings Requirements and any 

other restrictions set out in this authority

(e)  the maximum discount at which equity securities may be issued is 10% of the weighted average traded price of such equity 

securities measured over the 30-business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the Company and the 

party subscribing for the equity securities. The JSE should be consulted for a ruling if the applicant’s securities have not traded in 

such 30-business-day period

(f)  an announcement giving full details, including the impact on net asset value, net tangible asset value, earnings and headline 

earnings per share will be published at the time of any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% or more 

of the number of securities in issue prior to the general issue for cash 

(g)  this authority includes any options/convertible securities that are convertible into an existing class of equity securities

For listed entities wishing to issue shares for cash (other than issues by way of rights offers, in consideration for acquisitions and/or to 

share incentive schemes, which schemes have been duly approved by the JSE and by the shareholders of the Company), it is necessary 

for the Board of the Company to obtain prior authority of the shareholders in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements and the 

MOI of the Company. Accordingly, the reason for ordinary resolution number 9 is to obtain a general authority from shareholders to 

issue shares for cash in compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements. 

8. Ordinary resolution number 10: Authority to sign all required documents

RESOLVED that, subject to the passing of the ordinary and special resolutions at the AGM, any director of the Company or the 

company secretary shall be, and is hereby authorised to sign all documentation and perform all acts which may be required to give 

effect to such ordinary and special resolutions.

Reason for and effect of ordinary resolution number 10
The resolution grants authority to any director or the company secretary to carry out, execute all documentation and do all such things 

as they may in their discretion consider necessary or appropriate in connection with and to implement and give effect to the ordinary 

resolutions above and special resolutions below.

9. Special resolution number 1: Authority to issue shares to an executive director (CEO) in terms of an 
employment agreement entered into

RESOLVED that, in terms of Section 41 of the Companies Act, the directors be and are hereby authorised to issue the shares to 

Theo Botoulas in lieu of his employment agreement as approved by shareholders on 6 August 2018, being 139,788,094 ordinary shares 

of no par value in the authorised share capital of the Company, which will post the issuance thereof, constitute 10.85% of the of the 

voting rights of the current total issued share capital of the Company.

Reason and effect of special resolution number 1
The reason for and effect of special resolution number 1 is to authorise the directors to issue the shares, as required in terms of  

Section 41 of the Companies Act. 

In terms of Section 62(3) of the Companies Act, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for this special resolution to be 
approved is at least 75% of the voting rights present and exercised on the special resolution
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10. Special resolution number 2: Remuneration of non-executive directors

RESOLVED that, the remuneration, as set out in the table below, to be paid to non-executive directors from date of the AGM for their 

service as directors of the Company, as recommended by the Remuneration Committee and the Board, be and is hereby approved for 

the next two years, or until such time before the end of that period another special resolution is adopted.

Fees

Type of fee

Monthly Annual

R R

Board

Chairperson 20,834 250,000

Non-executive directors 12,500 150,000

Audit and Risk Committee

Chairperson 16,667 200,000

Members 12,500 150,000

Remuneration Committee

Chairperson 16,667 200,000

Members 12,500 150,000

Social and Ethics Committee

Chairperson 16,667 200,000

Members 12,500 150,000

Nomination Committee

Chairperson 16,667 200,000

Members 12,500 150,000

* Fees payable to non-executive directors are exclusive of value added tax.

Reason and effect of special resolution number 2
Special resolution number 2 is proposed to comply with the provisions of Sections 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act which provide 

that the Company may pay remuneration to its directors for their service as directors, subject to approval by special resolution. If special 

resolution number 2 is passed, the Company will be authorised to pay its directors the remuneration specified in the table above.

In terms of Section 62(3) of the Companies Act, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for this special resolution to be 
approved is at least 75% of the voting rights present and exercised on the special resolution. 

11. Special resolution number 3: Remuneration of non-executive directors as proposed in the Corporate 
Governance report, consolidated proposal Part 1 on pages 26 of the Integrated Report

RESOLVED that, the remuneration, as set out in the table below, to be paid to non-executive directors, as set out in the Corporate 

Governance report in the consolidated proposal, point number 1 on page 26 of the Integrated Report, be and is hereby approved.

 
Director

Fee
R

Dr Lelau Mohuba 226,666

Gideon Joubert 160,000

Peter Cook 140,000

John Bristow 160,000

* Fees payable to non-executive directors are exclusive of value added tax.

Reason and effect of special resolution number 3
Special resolution number 3 is proposed to comply with the provisions of Sections 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act which provide 

that the Company may pay remuneration to its directors for their service as directors, subject to approval by special resolution. If special 

resolution number 3 is passed, the Company will be authorised to pay its directors the remuneration specified in the table above.

In terms of Section 62(3) of the Companies Act, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for this special resolution to be 
approved is at least 75% of the voting rights present and exercised on the special resolution. 
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12. Special resolution number 4: Remuneration of non-executive directors as proposed in the Corporate 
Governance report, consolidated proposal Part 2 on page 27 of the Integrated Report

RESOLVED that, the remuneration, as set out in the table below, to be paid to non-executive directors in relation to their services as  

non-executive directors as set out in the Corporate Governance report in the consolidated proposal, point number 2 on page 27 of the 

Integrated Report, be and is hereby approved.

Director Fee

Dr Lelau Mohuba R679,000

Gideon Joubert  R477,000

Peter Cook R465,000

John Bristow R267,000

* Fees payable to non-executive directors are exclusive of value added tax.

Reason and effect of special resolution number 4
Special resolution number 4 is proposed to comply with the provisions of Sections 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act which provide 

that the Company may pay remuneration to its directors for their service as directors, subject to approval by special resolution. If special 

resolution number 4 is passed, the Company will be authorised to pay its directors the remuneration specified in the table above.

In terms of Section 62(3) of the Companies Act, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for this special resolution to be 
approved is at least 75% of the voting rights present and exercised on the special resolution. 

13. Special resolution number 5.1: Authority to issue shares to a non-executive director

RESOLVED that, in terms of Section 41 of the Companies Act, the directors be and are hereby authorised to issue the shares to  

Dr L Mohuba in lieu of non-executive director remuneration, being 10,210,526 ordinary shares of no par value in the authorised share 

capital of the Company, which will post the issuance thereof, constitute 0.79% of the of the voting rights of the current total issued 

share capital of the Company.

Reason and effect of special resolution number 5.1
The reason for, and effect of special resolution number 5.1 is to authorise the directors to issue the shares, as required in terms of 

Section 41 of the Companies Act. 

In terms of Section 62(3) of the Companies Act, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for this special resolution to be 
approved is at least 75% of the voting rights present and exercised on the special resolution.

14. Special resolution number 5.2: Authority to issue shares to a non-executive director

RESOLVED that, in terms of Section 41 of the Companies Act, the directors be and are hereby authorised to issue the shares to P Cook 

in lieu of non-executive director remuneration, being 6,992,482 ordinary shares of no par value in the authorised share capital of the 

Company, which will post the issuance thereof, constitute 0.54% of the of the voting rights of the current total issued share capital of 

the Company. 

Reason and effect of special resolution number 5.2
The reason for and effect of special resolution number 5.2 is to authorise the directors to issue the shares, as required in terms of 

Section 41 of the Companies Act. 

In terms of Section 62(3) of the Companies Act, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for this special resolution to be 
approved is at least 75% of the voting rights present and exercised on the special resolution.

15. Special resolution number 5.3: Authority to issue shares to a non-executive director

RESOLVED that, in terms of Section 41 of the Companies Act, the directors be and are hereby authorised to issue the shares to 

G Joubert in lieu of non-executive director remuneration, being 7,172,933 ordinary shares of no par value in the authorised share 

capital of the Company, which will post the issuance thereof constitute 0.56% of the of the voting rights of the current total issued 

share capital of the Company.

Reason and effect of special resolution number 5.3
The reason for and effect of special resolution number 5.3 is to authorise the directors to issue the shares, as required in terms of 

Section 41 of the Companies Act. 

In terms of Section 62(3) of the Companies Act, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for this special resolution to be 
approved is at least 75% of the voting rights present and exercised on the special resolution.
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16. Special resolution number 5.4: Authority to issue shares to a non-executive director

RESOLVED that, in terms of Section 41 of the Companies Act, the directors be and are hereby authorised to issue the shares to  

J Bristow in lieu of non-executive director remuneration, being 4,015,038 ordinary shares of no par value in the authorised share capital 

of the Company, which will post the issuance thereof constitute 0.31% of the of the voting rights of the current total issued share 

capital of the Company.

Reason and effect of special resolution number 5.4
The reason for and effect of special resolution number 5.3 is to authorise the directors to issue the shares, as required in terms of 

Section 41 of the Companies Act.

In terms of Section 62(3) of the Companies Act, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for this special resolution to be 
approved is at least 75% of the voting rights present and exercised on the special resolution.

17. Special resolution number 6: Inter-company financial assistance 

RESOLVED in terms of Section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, that the Board be and is hereby authorised 

to approve that the Company provides any direct or indirect financial assistance (financial assistance will herein have the meaning 

attributed to it in Section 45(1) of the Companies Act, that the Board of the Company may deem fit to any company or corporation 

that is related or inter-related, will herein have the meaning attributed to it in Section 2 of the Companies Act), to the Company, on the 

terms and conditions and for amounts that the Board may determine, provided that the aforementioned approval shall be valid until the 

date of the next AGM of the Company.

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 6
To grant the directors of the Company the authority, until the next AGM, to provide direct or indirect financial assistance to any 

company or corporation which is related or inter-related to the Company. This means that the Company is authorised to grant loans to 

its subsidiaries and to guarantee the debt of its subsidiaries.

18. Special resolution number 7: Financial assistance for the subscription/or acquisition of shares in the 
Company or a related or inter-related company

RESOLVED, in terms of Section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, that the Board be and is hereby authorised 

to approve that the Company provides any direct or indirect financial assistance (financial assistance will herein have the meaning 

attributed to it in Sections 44(1) and 44(2) of the Companies Act) that the Board may deem fit to any company or corporation that 

is related or inter-related to the Company (related or inter-related will herein have the meaning attributed to it in Section 2 of the 

Companies Act), and/or to any financier who provides funding by subscribing for preference shares or other securities in the Company 

or any company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts that the 

Board may determine for the purpose of, or in connection with the subscription of any option, or any shares or other securities, issued 

or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, or for the purchase of any shares or securities of 

the Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, provided that the aforementioned approval shall be valid until the 

date of the next AGM of the Company.

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 7
To grant the directors the authority, until the next AGM of the Company, to provide financial assistance to any company or corporation 

which is related or inter-related to the Company and/or to any financier for the purpose of or in connection with the subscription or 

purchase of options, shares or other securities in the Company or any related or inter-related company or corporation. This means 

that the Company is authorised, inter alia, to grant loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee and furnish security for the debt of its 

subsidiaries where any such financial assistance is directly or indirectly related to a party subscribing for options, shares or securities in 

the Company or its subsidiaries. A typical example of where the Company may rely on this authority is where a subsidiary raised funds 

by way of issuing preference shares and the third-party funder requires the Company to furnish security, by way of a guarantee or 

otherwise, for the obligations of its subsidiary to the third-party funder arising from the issue of the preference shares. The Company 

has no immediate plans to use this authority and is simply obtaining same in the interests of prudence and good corporate governance 

should the unforeseen need arise to use the authority.
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18. Special resolution number 7: Financial assistance for the subscription/or acquisition of shares in the 
Company or a related or inter-related company continued

In terms of and pursuant to the provisions of Sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act, the directors of the Company confirm that 

the Board will satisfy itself, after considering all reasonably foreseeable financial circumstances of the Company, that immediately after 

providing any financial assistance as contemplated in special resolution numbers 5 and 6 above:

• The assets of the Company (fairly valued) will equal or exceed the liabilities of the Company (fairly valued), taking into consideration 

the reasonably foreseeable contingent assets and liabilities of the Company

• The Company will be able to pay its debts as they become due in the ordinary course of business for a period of 12 months

• The terms under which any financial assistance is proposed to be provided, will be fair and reasonable to the Company

• All relevant conditions and restrictions (if any) relating to the granting of financial assistance by the Company as contained in the 

Company’s MOI have been met

19. Special resolution number 8: General authority to repurchase shares

RESOLVED that, the Company and the subsidiaries of the Company be and are hereby authorised, as a general approval, to repurchase 

any of the shares issued by the Company, upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as the directors may from time to time 

determine, but subject to the provisions of Sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, the MOI of the Company and the JSE Listings 

Requirements, including, inter alia, that:

• The general repurchase of the shares may only be implemented through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done 

without any prior understanding or arrangement between the Company and the counterparty

• This general authority shall only be valid until the next annual general meeting of the Company, provided that it shall not extend 

beyond 15 months from the date of this resolution

• An announcement must be published as soon as the Company has acquired shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the 

number of shares in issue prior to the acquisition, pursuant to which the aforesaid 3% threshold is reached, containing full details 

thereof, as well as for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number of shares acquired thereafter

• The general authority to repurchase is limited to a maximum of 20% in the aggregate in any one financial year of the Company’s 

issued share capital at the time the authority is granted

• A resolution has been passed by the Board of directors approving the purchase, that the Company has satisfied the solvency and 

liquidity test as defined in the Companies Act and that, since the solvency and liquidity test was applied, there have been no material 

changes to the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries

• The general repurchase is authorised by the Company’s MOI

• Repurchases must not be made at a price more than 10% above the weighted average of the market value of the shares for the five 

business days immediately preceding the date that the transaction is effected. The JSE will be consulted for a ruling if the Company’s 

securities have not traded in such five business-day-period

• The Company may at any point in time, only appoint one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on the Company’s behalf

• The Company may not effect a repurchase during any prohibited period as defined in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements unless 

there is a repurchase programme in place, which programme has been submitted to the JSE in writing prior to the commencement of 

the prohibited period and executed by an independent third party, as contemplated in terms of paragraph 5.72(h) of the JSE Listings 

Requirements

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 8 
To grant the directors a general authority in terms of its MOI and the JSE Listings Requirements for the acquisition by the Company or 

by a subsidiary of the Company of shares issued by the Company on the basis reflected in special resolution number 7. The Company 

has no immediate plans to use this authority and is simply obtaining same in the interests of prudence and good corporate governance 

should the unforeseen need arise to use the authority.

In terms of Section 48(2) (b)(i) of the Companies Act, subsidiaries may not hold more than 10%, in aggregate of the number of the 

issued shares of a company. For the avoidance of doubt, a pro rata repurchase by the Company from all its shareholders will not require 

shareholder approval, save to the extent as may be required by the Companies Act.
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Information relating to special resolution number 8
The directors of the Company or its subsidiaries will only utilise the general authority to repurchase shares of the Company as set out in 

special resolution number 7 to the extent that the directors, after considering the maximum number of shares to be purchased, are of 

the opinion that the position of the Company and its subsidiaries would not be compromised as to the following:

• The Group’s ability in the ordinary course of business to pay its debts for a period of 12 months after the date of this AGM and for a 

period of 12 months after the repurchase

• The consolidated assets of the Group will at the time of the AGM and at the time of making such determination, be in excess of the 

consolidated liabilities of the Group. The assets and liabilities should be recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting 

policies used in the latest audited financial statements of the Group

• The ordinary capital and reserves of the Group after the repurchase will remain adequate for the purpose of the business of the 

Company for a period of 12 months after the AGM and after the date of the share repurchase

• The working capital available to the Group after the repurchase will be sufficient for the Group’s requirements for a period of 

12 months after the date of the notice of the AGM

Other that the facts and developments reported on in the Integrated Report, there have been no material changes in the affairs or 

financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries, since the date of signature of the audit report for the financial year ended 

31 August 2018 and up to the date of this notice of AGM.

General information in respect of major shareholders and the share capital of the Company is contained in the Integrated Report, as 

well as the full set of financial statements, available on Union Atlantic Mineral’s website at www.unionatlanticminerals.com or which 

may be requested and obtained in person, at no charge, at the registered office of Union Atlantic Minerals during office hours.

The directors, whose names appear on page 13 of the Integrated Report of which this notice forms part, collectively and individually 

accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given and certify that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no 

facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such 

facts have been made and that this notice of AGM contains all information required by the JSE Listings Requirements.

VOTING

The date on which shareholders must be recorded as such in the Share Register maintained by the transfer secretaries of the Company 

(the Share Register) for purposes of being entitled to receive this notice is 1 July 2019. 

The date on which shareholders must be recorded in the Share Register for purposes of being entitled to attend and vote at this AGM is 

29 July 2019, at 10:00am, with the last day to trade being 24 July 2019.

Meeting participants will be required to provide proof of identification to the reasonable satisfaction of the Chairman of the AGM and must 

accordingly bring a copy of their identity document, passport or driver’s licence to the AGM. If in doubt as to whether any document will be 

regarded as satisfactory proof of identification, meeting participants should contact the transfer secretaries for guidance.

Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote thereat in their stead. 

A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. A form of proxy, which sets out the relevant instructions for its completion, is enclosed 

for use by a certificated shareholder or own-name registered dematerialised shareholder who wishes to be represented at the AGM. 

Completion of a form of proxy will not preclude such shareholders from attending and voting (in preference to that shareholder’s proxy) 

at the AGM.

The instrument appointing a proxy and the authority (if any) under which it is signed must reach the transfer secretaries of the Company 

at the address and email given below by no later than 10:00am on 1 August 2019, for administrative purposes, provided that any 

form of proxy not delivered to the transfer secretary by this time may be handed to the Chairman of the AGM at any time prior to the 

commencement of the AGM.

Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the AGM in person, will 

need to request their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker to provide them with the necessary authority in terms of the 

custody agreement entered into between such shareholders and the CSDP or broker.

Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered dematerialised shareholders, who are unable to attend the AGM and who 

wish to be represented thereat, must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the custody agreement entered 

into between themselves and the CSDP or broker in the manner and time stipulated therein.

Shareholders present in person, by proxy or by authorised representative shall, on a show of hands, have one vote each and, on a poll, 

will have one vote in respect of each share held.
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Electronic participation by shareholders 

Should any shareholder (or representative or proxy for a shareholder) wish to participate in the AGM electronically, that shareholder should 

apply in writing (including details on how the shareholder or representative (including proxy) can be contacted) to the transfer secretaries 

at the address above, to be received by the transfer secretaries at least seven (7) business days prior to the AGM (thus to be confirmed) 

for the transfer secretaries to arrange for the shareholder (or representative or proxy) to provide reasonably satisfactory identification to 

the transfer secretaries for the purposes of Section 63(1) of the Companies Act and for the transfer secretaries to provide the shareholder 

(or representative or proxy) with details on how to access the AGM by means of electronic participation. The Company reserves the right not 

to provide for electronic participation at the AGM if it determines that it is not practical to do so, or an insufficient number of shareholders 

(or their representatives or proxies) request to participate in this manner. 

By order of the Board 

Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Limited 

Registration number 2007/008376/07

Company secretary

4 July 2019

For and on behalf of the Board

Registered office
Southdowns Office Park Block C Unit 7

22 Karee Street 

Irene, Centurion 

0157

PO Box 68528

Highveld 

0169 

Transfer secretaries
Link Market Services (Pty) Limited

Registration number 2000/007239/07

13th Floor, Rennie House

19 Ameshoff Street

Braamfontein 

2001

PO Box 4844

Johannesburg

2001
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FORM OF PROXY

UNION ATLANTIC MINERALS LIMITED
(Previously known as Miranda Mineral Holdings)

 (Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
Registration number: 1998/001940/06

JSE share code: UAT
ISIN: ZAE000254314

(Union Atlantic Minerals or the Company)

For completion by certificated and dematerialised ‘own-name’ registered shareholders of Union Atlantic Minerals unable to attend the 
Annual General Meeting (AGM) of shareholders of the Company to be held at 10:00am on 5 August 2019 at Suite 405, 4th floor, Lougardia 
Building, 1262 Embarkment Road, Centurion, 0157, South Africa, or at any adjournment or postponement of that meeting.

A shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need to be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, participate in, 
speak and vote or abstain from voting in the place of that shareholder at the AGM. 

I/We (please print names in full)  ___________________________________________________________________________________________

of (address)  ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________

being the holder/s of  _______________________________ shares in  ____________________________________________________________

the Company, do hereby appoint:

1. ______________________________________________________________________________________________________ or, failing him/her

2. ______________________________________________________________________________________________________ or, failing him/her

the Chairman of the AGM, as my/our proxy to attend, participate in, speak and, on a poll, vote on my/our behalf at the AGM of 
shareholders to be held at 10:00am on 5 August 2019 at Suite 405, 4th floor, Lougardia Building, 1262 Embarkment Road, Centurion, 
0157, South Africa, or at any adjournment or postponement of that meeting, and to vote or abstain from voting as follows on the ordinary 
and special resolutions to be proposed at such meeting:

Number of shares

 For Against Abstain

1. Ordinary Resolution number 1: Re-election of Peter Cook who retires by rotation

2.1 Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-appointment of Gideon Joubert as member and Chairman of the Audit 
and Risk Committee

2.2 Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-appointment of Dr Lelau Mohuba as member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee

2.3 Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-appointment of Peter Cook as member of the Audit and Risk Committee

3. Ordinary resolution number 5: Re-appointment of Ernst and Young Inc as external auditor with  
Dawid Petrus Venter as designated audit partner

4. Ordinary resolution number 6: Non-binding endorsement of Union Atlantic Minerals’ remuneration policy

5. Ordinary resolution number 7: Non-binding endorsement of Union Atlantic Minerals’ remuneration 
implementation report

6. Ordinary resolution number 8: General authority to directors to allot and issue authorised but unissued 
ordinary shares

7. Ordinary resolution number 9: General authority to issue shares for cash

8. Ordinary resolution number 10: Authority to sign all required documents

9. Special resolution number 1: Authority to issue shares to an executive director in terms of an employment 
agreement – Theo Botoulas

10. Special resolution number 2: Remuneration of non-executive directors

11. Special resolution number 3: Remuneration of non-executive directors as proposed in the Corporate 
Governance report – Part 1

12. Special resolution number 4: Remuneration of non-executive directors as proposed in the Corporate 
Governance report – Part 2

13. Special resolution number 5.1: Authority to issue shares to a non-executive director – Dr Lelau Mohuba

14. Special resolution number 5.2: Authority to issue shares to a non-executive director – Peter Cook

15. Special resolution number 5.3: Authority to issue shares to a non-executive director – Gideon Joubert

16. Special resolution number 5.4: Authority to issue shares to a non-executive director – John Bristow

17. Special resolution number 6: Inter-company financial assistance

18. Special resolution number 7: Financial assistance for the subscription/or acquisition of shares in the Company 
or a related or inter-related company

19. Special resolution number 8: General authority to repurchase shares

Please indicate with an ‘X’ in the appropriate spaces provided above how you wish your vote to be cast. 
If no indication is given, the proxy may vote or abstain as he/she sees fit. 

Signed at this ________________________________________ day of ________________________________________________________ 2019

Signature ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Assisted by me, where applicable (name and signature) ________________________________________________________________________
 Please read the notes overleaf

TO BE COMPLETED BY CERTIFICATED SHAREHOLDERS AND 
DEMATERIALISED SHAREHOLDERS WITH ‘OWN-NAME’ 
REGISTRATION ONLY
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1. A Union Atlantic Minerals shareholder may insert the name 
of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the 
shareholder’s choice in the space(s) provided, with or without 
deleting ‘the Chairman of the AGM’. The person whose name 
appears first on the form of proxy and who is present at the 
meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of 
those whose names follow.

2. Union Atlantic Minerals shareholder’s instructions to the proxy 
must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number 
of shares to be voted on behalf of that shareholder in the 
appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the above will 
be deemed to authorise the Chairman of the AGM, if he/she 
is the authorised proxy, to vote in favour of the resolutions at 
the AGM, or any other proxy to vote or to abstain from voting 
at the AGM as he/she deems fit in respect of all the shares 
concerned. A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use 
all the votes exercisable by the shareholder or his/her proxy, but 
the total of the votes cast and in respect whereof abstentions 
are recorded may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable 
by the shareholder or his/her proxy.

3. When there are joint registered holders of any shares, any one 
of such persons may vote at the AGM in respect of such shares 
as if he/she was solely entitled thereto, but if more than one of 
such joint holders be present or represented at the AGM, that 
one of the said persons whose name stands first in the register 
in respect of such shares or his/her proxy as the case may 
be, shall alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof. Several 
executors or administrators of a deceased member, in whose 
name any shares stand, shall be deemed joint holders thereof.

4. It is recommended that the proxy forms should be lodged 
with the transfer secretaries of the Company, Computershare 
Investor Services (Pty) Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann 
Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 or posted to the transfer secretaries 
at PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, to be received by them 
on 1 August 2019, at 10:00am, for administration purposes 
provided that any form of proxy not delivered to the transfer 
secretary by this time may be handed to the Chairman of 
the AGM prior to the commencement of the AGM, at any 
time before the appointed proxy exercises any shareholder 
rights at the AGM.

The form may also be emailed to info@linkmarketservices.co.za.

5. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must 
be initialled by the signatory(ies).

6. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person 
signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be 
attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by 
the Company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the Chairman 
of the AGM.

7. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not 
preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the AGM 
and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of 
any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such shareholder 
wish to do so.

SUMMARY OF RIGHTS CONTAINED IN SECTION 58 
OF THE COMPANIES ACT
In terms of Section 58 of the Companies Act:

•  A shareholder of a company may, at any time and in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 58 of the Companies Act, 
appoint any individual (including an individual who is not a 
shareholder) as a proxy to participate in, and speak and vote at a 
shareholders’ meeting on behalf of such shareholder

•  A proxy may delegate her/his authority to act on behalf of a 
shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out 
in the instrument appointing such proxy

•  Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, 
the appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the 
extent that the relevant shareholder chooses to act directly and 
in person in the exercise of any of such shareholder’s rights as a 
shareholder

•  Any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable, 
unless the form of instrument used to appoint such proxy states 
otherwise

•  If an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may 
revoke the proxy appointment by: 

(i) cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent 
appointment of a proxy 

(ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy 
and to the relevant company

•  A proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or 
abstain from exercising, any voting right of such shareholder 
without direction, except to the extent that the relevant 
company’s memorandum of incorporation, MOI, or the 
instrument appointing the proxy, provides otherwise

•  If the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been 
delivered by a shareholder to a company, then, for so long as 
that appointment remains in effect, any notice that is required in 
terms of the Companies Act or such company’s memorandum of 
incorporation to be delivered to a shareholder must be delivered 
by such company to:

 – the relevant shareholder or

 – the proxy or proxies, if the relevant shareholder has: 

 (i) directed such company to do so, in writing and 

 (ii)  paid any reasonable fee charged by such company for 
doing so

(which include, inter alia, a summary of the rights established by Section 58 of the Companies Act,  
as amended). 
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ACRONYMS

AGM Annual general meeting

B-BBEE Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment 

Cadiz Cadiz Corporate Solutions

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CGU Cash-generating units

CIPC Companies and Intellectual Property Commission

Companies Act South African Companies Act 71 of 2008 as amended

CPR Competent Person’s Report

CSDP Central Securities Depository Participant

DMR Department of Mineral Resources

EIR Effective interest rate

FVTOCI Fair value through other comprehensive income

GIS Geographic information system

Group Company and its subsidiaries

HDSA Historically Disadvantaged South Africans 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

IRBA Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors

JSE Johannesburg Securities Exchange Limited

MMH Miranda Mineral Holdings Limited

MOI Memorandum of Incorporation

MPRDA Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act

OCI Other comprehensive income

Osho Osho Resources SA Proprietary Limited

QA Quality assurance

QC Quality control

River Group River Capital Partners

SAMREC South African Minerals Reporting Codes

SARB South African Reserve Bank

Sesikhona Sesikhona Klipbrand Colliery Proprietary Limited

Siafa Siafa Resources Proprietary Limited

UAM Union Atlantic Minerals Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Non-executive chairman

Dr Lelau Mohuba 

Executive directors

Theo Botoulas (Chief Executive Officer)

Adriaan Botha (Financial Director)

Non-executive director 

Peter Cook 

Non-executive director

Gideon Joubert

Company registration number

1998/001940/06

WEBSITE

www.unionatlanticminerals.com

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young Incorporated

Registration Number: 2005/002308/21

102 Rivonia Road

Sandton, 2196

Private Bag X14, Sandton, 2146

JSE SPONSOR
River Group

No. 2 Kloof Trio 

211 Kloof Avenue 

Waterkloof 

Pretoria, 0145

PO Box 2579, Brooklyn Square, 0075

LEGAL COUNSEL
Taback and Associates Proprietary Limited

13 Eton Road

Parktown

Johannesburg, 2193

PO Box 3334, Houghton, 2041

REGISTERED OFFICE AND PHYSICAL ADDRESS
Southdowns Office Park

Block C, Suite 7

Irene

Centurion, 0157

PO Box 68528, Highveld, Centurion, 0169

BANKERS
First National Bank (FNB)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services  
Proprietary Limited

Southdowns Office Park

Block C, Suite 7

Irene

Centurion, 0157

PO Box 68528, Highveld, Centurion, 0169

TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Link Market Services Proprietary Limited 

13th Floor, Rennie House

19 Ameshoff Street 

Braamfontein, 2001

PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Union Atlantic Minerals shares are listed on the JSE under the share code UAT.
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